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HIGHLIGHTS
S

Change
2009 2008 #ig

(in HK$ Million) (B¥EET)
Results ES |
Turnover 4,045 4,901 -17.5 EEEH
Net operating profit 380 1,017 -62.6 EFEFaF
Share of after-tax results of jointly controlled companies R EARRKEEE

— Hong Kong Aero Engine Services Limited - ERMERHREEREERLF

and Singapore Aero Engine Services BT ISR A 22 35 B B A S AR 7K
Pte. Limited 363 397 -8.6 BRAR

— Other jointly controlled companies 57 65 -12.3 — Hp A H
Profit attributable to the Company's shareholders 688 1,138 -39.5  AARREMER
(in HK$) (B7)
Earnings per share attributable to the Company’s

shareholders (basic and diluted) 4.14 6.84 -39.5 DAEARRELHNERER (BEARETE)
(in HK$) (B5)
Interim and final dividends per share 2.00 3.18 371 BRPHRARHRE
(in HK$ Million) (BEBHET)
Financial Position BAFEARIR
Net (borrowings)/cash surplus (143) 215 -166.5 (ER)/ELBHFHE
Gearing ratio 2.3% = - EBRFEERE
Total equity 6,141 5,900 +4.1 RERBHE
(in HK$) (B5)
Equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders per share  31.13 29.83 +4.4  RARRELERER
(in HK$ Million) (BH¥EET)
Cash Flows Reng
Net cash generated from operating activities 729 1,064 315 REEEXBHNRESFE
Net cash inflow before financing activities 39 54 -27.8 REEXBANRERAFHE

Wit —FEENFHFHYIERITREHE %5166,324,850/%
(ZFZ/\FF5166,324,8501%) °
EERZENAH NABEERNRER T BB -

Note: The average number of shares in issue is 166,324,850 in 2009 (2008: 166,324,850).
Additional financial information of the Group’s jointly controlled companies is presented on page 55 .

Terms: Net borrowings Total loans less bank deposits and bank balances

Total equity Total of equity attributable to the Company's shareholders and minority interests HEE - BRFR ERAERRTERREBTER
EHEAE AERRELEZRSHRRERE

R
BB

Net borrowings

Gearing ratio = -
Total equity

EXFaEHELE =

ERRBIBAERLA



GROUP PROFILE
EEM N

Hong Kong International Airport
ERERKS

HAECO provides line maintenance for over 70 airlines. It also
performs heavy maintenance in three hangars which hold nine
wide-body aircraft fully docked.

BRIEABEALTEMEARREINGRERY L
HEE

R=EKER
ETARBETRE  Z=EARBEATRANE2ARESR

REEHEE

Hangar 2

Hangar 3
E-HE

Hong Kong Tseung Kwan O S o7
ERRERIXAN
HAESL overhauls Rolls-Royce Trent and 524 engines, and is constructing

an additional component repair extension. HAECO has a 7,000-square
metre facility performing component overhaul and training.

EREMERBRAERE L ARSI RS RE24E 5| ZETAETE
WIFSERE e TR R - B TR B MAZE LT ¥ 1 RMRIE
{EREERE REBVIRAE -

HAES;LHﬂEngine T?it Cellﬂ_ e HAESL Phase 4 Workshop
EEMEEPBRECRB AR SIZAES BEMEEEIE
BERBARENBTS

HAECO Component
Overhaul & Training Centre
FEH TRRE I ALE RIEAF L

HAESL Phase 5 Component
Overhaul Workshop

(under construction)
BEAMEEIRECRBLR

HAESL Administration FRHEBHERETS (ER)

Building HAESL Workshop
BEMERPREE EEMERDH
U YNTRTL N BERB LR TS
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Xiamen
B

TAECO has five hangars holding ten wide-body aircraft fully docked anda ~ BEFIAEREIERARRERLERE - AISHTRZERERERN

training centre. Its sixth hangar is under construction. BB - WRAE — IR0 - EENEREEETRE -
TAECO has approvals to handle a wide variety of aircraft types. It BEPIAL R TIZA T2 MBI S BRSO o AT EPIET
specialises in heavy maintenance on Boeing 747 aircraft including WETATRRBARNEETR  AERTHMESHTRE SRR BN

passenger to freighter conversions. It also provides line maintenance at a % (LIS IZ A ONE) M 1B BRTE o

number of airports in Mainland China. 5
, , , o , EFIALERREERBERAREE - FMBBREAREREIREAF
Taikoo (Xiamen) Landing Gear Services Limited operates a landing gear B iR IR A IR0 o

overhaul facility next to TAECO's hangars. o
EPIA S EE R ER A FE AL General Electric 903|E A5

Taikoo Engine Services (Xiamen) Company Limited is upgrading its BRHTE - B R E—EE BN AR -

General Electric 90 engine overhaul facility for recommencement of
operations scheduled for 2010.

Reserved Area

HRAmE
Hangar 6

(under construction)

ZAME (ER) Landing Gear Workshop

EERRAREER

TEXL Workshop
EFRAEDRREAR TS

TEXL Engine Test Cell
EFAGRDERB ARSI LIRS

Engine Run-up Pens
BERE
Hangar 4
EME

Jinan
&=

STAECO provides line and base maintenance to Shandong Airlines and specialises in
performing heavy maintenance and passenger to freighter conversions for Boeing 737
aircraft for other airlines. Its five hangars can fully dock ten Boeing 737 aircraft.

WRAERETRARAALRAZAFAREINGREGEERT - TEPIAEMRERRLES
RETITHREAREER THRARERTIE - ZAR L EAREI AR TREARERERD
R ETITELRME -

Staff Quarters

Hangar 3
=K

Hangar 4
EIHRE

Hangar 5
ERiE

ERRBIBARLA



TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TEMBHRE

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
(in HK$ Million)
Turnover 1,874 1,983 2,118 1,992 2,134
Net operating profit 262 127 276 104 219
Share of after-tax results of jointly controlled companies 134 197 227 263 256
Profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders 400 312 465 345 438
Dividends 106 108 539 306 181
Interim and final dividend cover - times 3.79 2.88 3.78 2.46 2.42
Net assets employed:
Non-current assets 1,708 1,636 1,597 1,513 3,229
Net current assets/ (liabilities) 900 1,067 1,145 1,159 68
Net (borrowings)/cash surplus (94) 15 440 316 476
Less: non-current liabilities - - = = (169)
2,514 2,718 3,182 2,988 3,604
Financed by:
Equity attributable to the Company's shareholders 2,509 2,713 3,177 2,983 3,109
Minority interests 5 5 5 5 495
2,514 2,718 3,182 2,988 3,604
(in HK$)
Results per share:
Earnings attributable to the Company’s shareholders 2.40 1.87 2.80 2.07 2.63
Interim and final dividends 0.61 0.65 0.74 0.84 1.09
Special dividend - - 2.50 1.00 -
Equity attributable to the Company's shareholders 15.02 16.30 19.10 17.93 18.69
Number of staff:
HAECO 3,460 3,445 3,399 3,297 3,343
TAECO 1,614 1,792 1,870 1,927 2,250
HAESL 621 668 683 678 689
Other subsidiary and jointly controlled companies in which
HAECO and TAECO own at least 20% 281 316 362 499 599
5,976 6,221 6,314 6,401 6,881

Turnover
ExEn

HKSM B EE T
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Profit attributable to the Company's shareholders
AT R RE(LRT
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2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(B BEETT)
3,121 3,844 4,619 4,901 4,045 E Sk
508 779 1,000 1,017 380 BEFL
267 330 399 462 420 FEIL N RIRBEEE
618 847 1,073 1,138 688 2 A B R i 7
266 790 512 529 332 BRE
2.32 2.26 2.10 2.15 2.07 BFHPPRRGR S LEES
FTRAEEFE:
3,495 4,063 4,716 6,227 6,789 FRBEE
45 (212) (38) (162) (115) RBEE/(BF) FE
877 834 767 215 (143) (fER)RE BT
(319) (338) (551) (380) (390) A ERBEE
4,098 4,347 4,894 5,900 6,141
BARR
3,512 3,665 4,409 4,961 5,177 DEIRREGER
586 682 485 939 964 DHR RS
4,098 4,347 4,894 5,900 6,141
(B7)
BRxE:
3.72 5.09 6.45 6.84 4.14 DRI RIEMLEF
1.60 2.25 3.08 3.18 2.00 REIR ARER S
= 2.50 - - - HRIRE
21.12 22.04 26.51 29.83 31.13 DRI R AEL LS
EI¥H:
3,757 4,356 4,523 4,861 4,621 BRIRE
2,945 4,098 5,086 5,268 5,094 EMAGRETIEAR
750 805 844 908 892 BEMERDREERERR
BRIRREMALREIBRAREEES MR
731 859 1,245 1,701 2,008 HOEL Ao B e SR 1A F]
8,183 10,118 11,698 12,738 12,615
Earnings attributable to the Company's shareholders Number of staff
and interim & final dividends per share EIWHE
ATRREGESREINSRNERRBER
HKS 7T
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200 11,000 I I I
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4.00 7000 M
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K m peft
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Earnings &7 HAECO TR W HAESL BBmERBseeRyAa
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TAECO own at least 20%
ARTRREMASREIRARAEEEOMABENEMHERIEAT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRHESE

Results
HAECO's profit attributable to shareholders in 2009 was HK$688 million,
a decrease of 40% from the 2008 profit of HK$ 1,138 million.

2009 was a challenging year for the Group. The decrease in profit
for the year primarily resulted from reduced demand for the Group's
airframe heavy maintenance and line maintenance services. This reflected
the deterioration in aviation market conditions as airlines reduced
maintenance expenditure and grounded aircraft in response to the global
economic downturn. For the first time in several years, the Group's
airframe heavy maintenance facilities in Hong Kong and Xiamen had
substantial unsold capacity. The fall in demand for line maintenance
operations was in line with the level of aircraft movements at Hong Kong
International Airport (“HKIA").

Your Directors have recommended a final dividend for 2009 of HK$1.50
per share which, together with the interim dividend of HK$0.50 per share
paid on 22nd September 2009, results in a total distribution for the year
of HK$2.00 per share, compared to total dividends of HK$3.18 per share
in respect of 2008.

Investments
Notwithstanding the current difficult operating environment, the Group

has continued to invest in projects designed to expand its facilities and
the range of aviation maintenance and repair services it can offer to
customers.

HAECO opened its third hangar in Hong Kong in September 2009. Taikoo
(Shandong) Aircraft Engineering Company Limited opened its fifth hangar
in Jinan in May 2009. Taikoo Spirit AeroSystems (Jinjiang) Composite
Company Limited opened its specialist composite repair facility and
Dunlop Taikoo (linjiang) Aircraft Tyres Company Limited opened its tyre
retreading facility at Jinjiang in Fujian Province in November 2009. Taikoo
(Xiamen) Aircraft Engineering Company Limited ("TAECQ") is expected to
open its sixth hangar in the first half of 2011. Hong Kong Aero Engine
Services Limited ("HAESL") is constructing a component repair extension
which is planned to be operational in the first quarter of 2011. Taikoo
Sichuan Aircraft Engineering Services Company Limited is constructing its
first hangar in Chengdu, with operations scheduled to commence in the
second half of 2010.

3
BRIB-SZEZNFARREBEHEF[BEAEN
TNRER B-ZENFRFBET-B=TA
BETRLBEDZOT -
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Staff
In view of the current weakness in the market, the Group imposed a

general recruitment freeze in 2009, but continued to seek engineering
apprentices and to invest in training staff to cater for business growth
in the longer term. The Group's total headcount at the end of 2009 was
12,615, a marginal decrease from the end of 2008.

On behalf of the shareholders, | would like to thank all staff for their
hard work and continuing support.

Outlook
In recent months there has been some recovery from the difficult market

conditions which the Group encountered for most of 2009. This recovery
is expected to continue although the speed at which it does so remains
uncertain. We expect increased aircraft movements at HKIA and better
utilisation of our hangars in 2010. However, start up losses at our new
joint ventures in Mainland China will affect the Group's results in 2010.
Overall 2010 will be another challenging year. We will endeavour to
contain costs whilst continuing to deliver quality service to customers.

The Group has been building for the future with confidence. | believe
that with the investments made in new strategic joint ventures and core
business facilities, and with its excellent quality of work and service, the
Group is well placed to take advantage of future long term growth in the
aviation industry.

Christopher Pratt
Chairman
Hong Kong, 9th March 2010
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
XHOE

The Company's profit attributable to its shareholders comprises:

DRANRREEEFELE

Change
2009 2008 g %
(in HK$ Million) (BEBEET)
HAECO Hong Kong operations 227 420 46 BEIREBBNES
Share of: FEfh
TAECO 106 275 -61 EfAHREIRAR
BEEMERDRECRBLIR
HAESL and SAESL 363 397 -9 MEME S BREBRE LR
Other subsidiary and jointly controlled
companies (8) 46 =117 Hnpt B R LE AT
688 1,138 -40
HAECO Hong Kong Operations ARIBETENRY

The Company's Hong Kong operations comprise airframe heavy maintenance
in its hangars, line maintenance at the passenger and cargo terminals at HKIA,
component overhaul at Tseung Kwan O and inventory technical management
services.

The airframe heavy maintenance division in Hong Kong provides a
comprehensive range of scheduled maintenance checks, modifications and
overhaul work on a wide variety of aircraft types. It competes on price,
availability of space, turnround time and quality of workmanship with other
maintenance, repair and overhaul facilities worldwide. In 2009, there was
reduced demand for airframe heavy maintenance services. Manhours sold
decreased from 2.65 million in 2008 to 2.39 million in 2009. Approximately
63% of the division's work was for airlines based outside Hong Kong. The
Company opened its third heavy maintenance hangar in Hong Kong in
September 2009. Space has also been provided for further expansion on an
adjacent site.

The line maintenance division provides a comprehensive range of technical
and non-technical services to airlines operating at HKIA. As a result its
activities are linked with the level of aircraft movements. There was a reduction
in aircraft movements at HKIA in 2009, reflecting a weak cargo market and a
reduction in scheduled passenger services, although there was some recovery
in the final quarter. The average number of movements handled by HAECO
was 249 per day in 2009, 9% down from 274 per day in 2008.

The component overhaul division occupies 7,000 square metres of workshop
space at Tseung Kwan O. Although equipment manufacturers are engaging
more in the component overhaul business as part of their after sales service,
the Company has continued to make investments designed to enhance
its capabilities in this area of business. Manhours sold for component
overhaul activities were 0.28 million in 2009, 8% up from 0.26 million in
2008. Utilisation of the component overhaul facilities during the year was
reasonable.

10  HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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The Company provides inventory technical management services for rotable
spares for various aircraft, including Airbus A300-600F, A319-100, A320-200
and A330-300 and Boeing 747-200F aircraft.

Total headcount for the Hong Kong operations decreased by 5% during the
year to 4,621 at the end of 2009.

Taikoo (Xiamen) Aircraft Engineering Company Limited
TAECO performs airframe heavy maintenance and passenger to freighter
conversions using five wide-body double bay hangars at Xiamen Gaoqi
International Airport. It also performs line maintenance operations
in Beijing, Tianjin, Shanghai and Xiamen, handling an average of 40
movements per day during the year.

TAECO reported a significant reduction in profitability in 2009, with
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders down by 61% to
HK$106 million. Although business in the first half of the year held up
reasonably well, the company’s facilities were severely under-utilised
during the second half of 2009, as the impact of the global downturn on
the aviation industry made itself felt. Against a background of capacity
reductions by most of TAECO's major customers, manhours sold decreased
by 27% from 4.07 million in 2008 to 2.98 million in 2009. Despite
measures taken to contain costs, the fact that a significant proportion
of costs are fixed meant that profit fell substantially. The passenger to
freighter conversion business remained weak in 2009 with four Boeing
747-400 passenger to freighter conversion aircraft completed during the
year and two in progress at the year-end.

The company is constructing its sixth hangar, the opening of which was
delayed until 2011 in view of market conditions. Under an agreement
with Airbus, TAECO is creating a cabin completion centre in Mainland
China for Airbus corporate and business aircraft. It is expected to be
operational by the end of 2010.

At the end of 2009, TAECO's headcount totalled 5,094, a 3% reduction
compared to 5,268 at the end of 2008.

Hong Kong Aero Engine Services Limited

HAESL (45% owned) repairs and overhauls Rolls-Royce engines and
engine components at its facility at Tseung Kwan 0. The company
reported satisfactory profit growth in the first half of 2009 but business
was weak in the second half of the year as major customers reduced
flying hours and grounded aircraft, in particular B747s. 204 engine
equivalents were handled in 2009 compared to 223 in 2008. The effect
of the reduction in volume was partially offset by a favourable work mix
and by measures taken to control costs.

AABTREEREOTEEAEHREEFRINE
BRY  ELHAGEEHRELTA300-600FRE
# -~ A319-100% - A320-2008 F;A330-300H &
s LURRE747-200F R E# o
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NEFERNTAET—A o
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
*HBERE

Singapore Aero Engine Services Pte. Limited (“SAESL"), in which HAESL
has a 20% interest, reported a slight reduction in turnover but an
increase in profit due to a favourable work mix and good cost controls
in 2009. The Group's share of the after-tax profit of HAESL, including its
interest in SAESL, fell 9% in 2009 to HK$363 million.

HAESL is constructing a 9,600 square metre extension to its existing
component repair facilities. It is expected to commence operations in
early 2011.

Other Principal Subsidiary and Jointly Controlled
Companies

The Group's other principal subsidiary and jointly controlled companies
comprise:

e HAECO ATE Component Service Limited (100% owned), which provides
computerised testing of components in Hong Kong.

® Singapore HAECO Pte. Limited (100% owned), which handles line
maintenance at Singapore Changi Airport.

e Taikoo Engine Services (Xiamen) Company Limited (“TEXL") (75.01%
owned by HAECO and 10% by TAECO), a Xiamen-based engine
overhaul facility, which overhauls commercial aero engines and has a
globally branded service agreement with General Electric ("GE") for
overhauling GE90 engines. There was good progress in upgrading its
facilities, and the company is scheduled to commence operations in the
second quarter of 2010,

e Taikoo (Xiamen) Landing Gear Services Company Limited (“TALSCO")
(50% owned by HAECO and 10% by TAECO), which provides landing
gear overhaul services in Xiamen.

 Dunlop Taikoo (linjiang) Aircraft Tyres Company Limited (28% owned
by HAECO and 9% by TAECO), which provides tyre retreading services
for commercial aircraft at Jinjiang in Fujian Province. The company
commenced operations in November 2009.

e Goodrich Asia-Pacific Limited (49% owned), which refurbishes carbon
brakes and overhauls wheel hubs at Fanling in Hong Kong.

 Goodrich TAECO Aeronautical Systems Limited (35% owned by TAECO),
which overhauls fuel control systems and pumps in Xiamen.

® Honeywell TAECO Aerospace (Xiamen) Company Limited (25% owned

by HAECO and 10% by TAECO), which overhauls auxiliary power units
and other rotables.

12 HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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e Taikoo (Shandong) Aircraft Engineering Company Limited (30%
owned by HAECO and 10% by TAECO), which provides airframe
heavy maintenance services at Jinan in Shandong Province for Boeing
737 and other narrow-body aircraft. It also undertakes Boeing 737
passenger to freighter conversions. The company opened its fifth
hangar in May 2009.

e Taikoo Spirit AeroSystems (Jinjiang) Composite Company Limited
(41.8% owned by HAECO and 10.76% by TAECO), which undertakes
composite material aeronautic parts and systems repair, manufacturing
and sales. The company opened its specialist composite repair facility
at Jinjiang in Fujian Province in November 2009.

e Taikoo Sichuan Aircraft Engineering Services Company Limited (40%
owned by HAECO and 9% by TAECO), which provides airframe heavy
maintenance services at Chengdu in Sichuan Province for Airbus
aircraft. The company is constructing its first hangar and opening is
scheduled for the second half of 2010.

Except for Honeywell TAECO Aerospace (Xiamen) Company Limited (which
recorded an increase in profit in 2009), the above companies recorded
disappointing results in 2009. The aviation business environment was difficult
and the new joint ventures in Mainland China incurred start up losses.
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Financial Review B %
Change |
2009 2008 s ©
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EEBT)
Consolidated Income Statement RaBaR
Turnover 4,045 4901 -17 EXEE o \
The decrease in turnover comprised a 12% decrease for the gXegns BEARERENEBTRADZ
Company's Hong Kong operations and a 28% decrease for ToREMAEREIRAAHRBTRED 2=
TAECO. T
Operating profit 385 1,010 -62 EXaf
The decrease in operating profit was due to lower turnover EXRNRD  RERAAETBHEBREMA
and lower margins of both the Company's Hong Kong EREIBRARNEEERBRABI TRAE -
operations and TAECO.
Share of after-tax results of jointly controlled companies 420 462 -9 EEREARBRBKRES
The decrease in share of after-tax results of jointly controlled REHEARRBAEERD  TERMNEEM
companies was primarily due to profit decrease in HAESL. EREBESIRE D REFI TR AE -
Profit for the year 760 1,350 -44  AREFEF

The decrease in profit for the year was mainly due to less
aircraft movements and reduced airframe heavy maintenance
work in Hong Kong, substantially lower airframe heavy
maintenance operations in TAECO and less engine overhaul
work within HAESL.

AERNED  TRRARBENMIARZERHD
RHEABEBETIRAD  BEMAGREIRLS
MBS ARBEBEBERETE  ARTEMZHE
BECRBEAANCIZNEIRERDAE -
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Financial Review (continued) MBEE(E)
Change
2009 2008 wiE %
(in HK$ Million) (B EET)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position REMBRRE
Non-current assets 6,789 6,227 +9 FrRBEE
The increase primarily related to the construction of the FRBEERM TERHRERQARAE=ARE
Company's third hangar and TAECO's sixth hangar, and MEMALTREIZOREAERE - UREMK
upgrading of TEXL's engine overhaul facilities. HRDERE L DN EABRBETRALE -
Net current liabilities RBARETFH
Other current assets 889 1,002 | -11 HRBEE
Other current liabilities (1,004) (1,164) | -14 Hitpme & &
Net current liabilities (115) (162)| -29 REEEFHR
The decrease in net current liabilities primarily reflected less RBREFERD  TRRRESRAMENTE
trade and other payables partially offset by the decrease in WY MOEEXBETEMIINES REMLER
trade and other receivables, following lower turnover, FRIRRD FRIEEH o
Net (borrowings)/cash surplus (143) 215 -167 (fBR)/ REBHRFHE
The increase in borrowings was mainly due to additional ERBNEERERHBLAAAREXHERER
borrowings undertaken by subsidiary companies to finance XHYEIMERK o
capital expenditure payments.
Non-current liabilities 390 380 +3 FRBEE
The increase was mainly due to higher deferred tax liabilites FRBEEEMTIERMNEFERRERBNE
relating to depreciation allowances. EBBRERMAH -
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows GEReRER
Net cash generated from operating activities 729 1,064 -31 REEEXBNRESFE
HK$405 million was generated by HAECO's own operations BRIBNRESRENNRIEEET - BAASER
and HK$378 million by TAECO. BIBARAGRER=ZBLTN\BET
Capital expenditure 905 1,228 -26 EAMRAX
2009 additions mainly included HK$447 million on the SRRNFREIREEAANE=EREERDEN
Company’s third hangar, HK$170 million on TAECQ's sixth TLagn  BFAGREIEARNEMEEES
hangar and HK$ 157 million on TEXL's engine overhaul —RBETER  AREPIALRBRRHEAFMIEL
facilities. EREBE—EETLEER °
Dividends received from jointly controlled companies 392 381 +3 RHEBRATUERHRE

Dividends received in 2009 comprised HK$350 million from
HAESL and HK$42 million from other jointly controlled
companies.

CEENFURNREEEREEEMERBHE
ERBEARNBE=RITET  RRAEMHED
ARENT_EET -
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Liquidity and Financing

At 31st December 2009, the Group had net borrowings amounting to
HK$143 million, with a gearing ratio of 2.3%. Net borrowings comprised
short-term loans of HK$425 million and long-term loans of HK$701 million
less bank balances and short-term deposits of HK$983 million. Committed
loan facilities amounted to HK$2,048 million, of which HK$1,008 million
remained undrawn. In addition, the Group had undrawn uncommitted
facilities totalling HK$137 million.

Sources of funds at 31st December 2009 comprised:

ReRBHRUR
R=BBNF+=A=+-BEE  RBEERF
BEE-ENTEEL AAFAALERAS

ZoHZ BREFEEREHERAENE-TH
BEARRMERBELEZ BB URRITEER

RERERASAEBNT=ZA8T - CREERE
EZHEHBR - TROTNEER  EFEE T+
RENEBEBREREA - i KEERBBAEK
REFERPFEHER -R=TtEET-

R-ZZENF+ZA=1—-RH  BERFEEE:

Undrawn Undrawn
expiring expiring
within one  beyond one
year year
Available Drawn —FREH —FREH
AEA CEA TEHAMADA JBAMAESA
(in HK$ Million) (BEEBT)
Committed facilities ERIBEERE
— Loans 2,048 1,040 386 622 -8
Uncommitted facilities REREEERE
— Loans 223 86 132 5 -8
Total 2,271 1,126 518 627 b
Audited Financial Information BERMEESH

For accounting purposes, the loans at 31st December are classified as
follows:

Group £E Company A&

2009 2008 2009 2008

REFPEMS  TZAZ+-REENERD
BT

(in HK$ Million)

Short-term loans - in HK dollars 267 57 200 -
- in US dollars 158 230 - -
- in other currencies - 2 - -

(BEEET)
EHER - B
- %%
- HE%

425 289 200 -
Long-term loans at amortised cost

BEBERTHNRAER

- in HK dollars 30 - - = - B
- in US dollars 671 388 - = - E5n
701 388 - -

Less: amount due within one year
included under current liabilities
- in US dollars 106 - - -

B SARBEEET AR - FREENE
- X

595 388 = =

All the loans are unsecured. The carrying amounts approximate their
fair values.

FRIEERIBEEN - AREENEQFERS -

ERRBIBAERLA



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

¥ % B
Audited Financial Information (continued) EEEMEIHE)
The maturity of long-term loans at 31st December is as follows: RtZA=+—-B&8  REERNHRNT :
Group &£E
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B HETT)
Bank loans: BITER
Repayable within 1 year 106 - —FREER
Repayable between 1 and 2 years 437 - —FEMFAEE
Repayable between 2 and 5 years 158 388 MEZEFAEE
701 388

The exposure of borrowings to interest rate changes and the RTZA=t-B&E  EXEHRARELH

contractual repricing dates at 31st December is as follows: ERURENEHRTEBRNT
Group £H Company 28]
2009 2008 2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (BEBEET)

6 months or less 1,126 677 200 - ANMEAZUT

The Group's and Company’s weighted average effective interest rates ~ R=ZBAF+ZA=+-R&E  KEERLH

per annum at 31st December 2009 are 0.95% (2008: 2.68%) and ~ MNEFHERFRNEFAABI 2THAE

0.62% (2008: no bank loans) respectively. (ZBBNFRADZ=HAN) REFZBHA
Z(ZEENFUERTERN)

Currency Fluctuations K28

The Group's income is primarily in HK and US dollars and is matched by ~ SENBANBBRETAE  HXTURBER
expenditure in the same currencies. The exception to this is TAECO which ~ RE BB REMAERETIRAF  ZAF
has substantial Renminbi expenditure. TAECO reduces its exposure to RBHXAANREEHE - BRASRIELR A AE
BUARBREBRHESURBELEREARET
BRARYE  UBEARBAETEZSBMES
MER R-ZZEBNAF+ZA=+-HEE  EM

changes in the exchange rate of the Renminbi against the US dollar by
retaining surplus funds in Renminbi and by selling US dollars and HK
?ollarsdfor\ivatr(j' f(;rURSe$n8n;|nbl|l.l.At 315dt 5§;Znaber-||%ooil TfAEEO haj[d ;Qltd KRB TEAT D EA LA T HEER
orward 2 total o million an million to fund part of its L rms  LEH-E-—Ep-m——=g
Renminbi requirement for 2010 and 2011. BANRBEEER o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board is committed to a high standard of corporate governance and
has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the "Code”)
promulgated by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. It has
complied throughout the year with all the mandatory code provisions and
with all the recommended best practices with the following exceptions:

e Independent Non-Executive Directors representing one-third of the
Board (Section A.3.2 of the Code).

e quarterly reporting (Section C.1.4 of the Code) which the Board
considers would provide little information of additional value to
shareholders while increasing administrative costs and pressure to
focus on short-term results rather than long-term value creation.

e establishing a nomination committee (Section A.4.4 of the Code)
as the Board considers it is in the best interest of the Company and
potential new appointees that they collectively review and approve the
appointment of new directors.

Investor Relations

All communications for shareholders including reports, announcements
and the results of polls of shareholders at shareholder meetings are
posted on the Company's website: www.haeco.com. Printed copies of the
Annual and Interim Reports are also sent to all shareholders. Briefings
for the investment community are held shortly after the interim and final
results announcements.

The Company's 2009 Annual General Meeting was held on 12th May
2009 and the minutes were posted on the Company’s website. This
meeting was open to all shareholders and members of the press. The votes
of the Annual General Meeting were taken by poll and the poll results
were posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Key shareholder dates for 2010 are set out on the inside front cover of
this report.

Board of Directors

The Company is governed by a Board of Directors which is responsible
for directing and supervising its affairs. This Board is accountable
to shareholders for the development of the Group with the goal of
maximising long-term shareholder value, while balancing broader
stakeholder interests.

The Board is also responsible for the integrity of financial information
and the effectiveness of the Group's systems of internal control and risk
management processes. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility
for the preparation of the accounts of the Company, its keeping of fair
and accurate accounting records and its compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The Board has, with the assistance of its Audit
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Committee and the Swire Group Internal Audit, conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal control including the
adequacy of the resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of
the Company's accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget.

The Board comprises the Chairman, four other Executive Directors,
and eight Non-Executive Directors. The roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer are segregated and are not performed by the same
person. All Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders every
three years. New Directors, being individuals who are suitably qualified
and expected to make a positive contribution to the performance of the
Board, are identified by existing Directors and proposed to the Board for
appointment. A Director appointed by the Board is subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after his or her appointment.

The Non-Executive Directors bring independent judgement on issues
of strategy, performance, risk and people through their contribution
at Board and Committee meetings. The Board considers that four of
the eight Non-Executive Directors are independent in character and
judgement and fulfil the independence guidelines set out in Listing Rule
3.13. The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
Executive Directors confirmation of his independence pursuant to Listing
Rule 3.13.

The Chairman ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely and
clear information. Directors are encouraged to update their skills,
knowledge and familiarity with the Group through their initial induction,
ongoing participation at Board and Committee meetings, and through
meeting key members of management.

All Directors have access to the services of the Company Secretary who
regularly updates the Board on governance and regulatory matters. Any
Director wishing to do so in the furtherance of his or her duties, may take
independent professional advice through the Chairman at the Company’s
expense. The availability of professional advice extends to the Audit and
Remuneration Committees.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal actions against its Directors and Officers.

Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the Company Secretary and,

together with any supporting Board papers, are available to all Board
members.
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The Board has three sub-committees: an Executive Committee, an Audit
Committee and a Remuneration Committee. The Audit and Remuneration
Committees have terms of reference which accord with the principles set
out in the Code and minutes are taken by the Company Secretary. The
work of these Committees is reported to the Board.

All Directors disclose to the Board on their first appointment their
interests as a director or otherwise in other companies or organisations
and such declarations of interests are updated annually. When the Board
considers any proposal or transaction in which a Director has a conflict of
interest, the Director declares his or her interest.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (“the Securities Code")
regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model Code") contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. A copy of the Securities Code is sent to each
Director of the Company first on his or her appointment and thereafter
twice annually, one month before the date of the Board meetings to
approve the Company's half-year results and annual results, with a
reminder that the Director cannot deal in the securities and derivatives of
the Company until after such results have been published, and that all his
or her dealings must be conducted in accordance with the Securities Code.

Under the Securities Code, Directors of the Company are required to
notify the Chairman and receive a dated written acknowledgement
before dealing in the securities and derivatives of the Company, and, in
the case of the Chairman himself, he must notify the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and receive a dated written acknowledgement before
any dealing.

On specific enquiries made, all the Directors of the Company have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Securities Code.

Directors’ interests as at 31st December 2009 in the shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) are set out on page 32.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises four Executive Directors, one Non-
Executive Director who chairs its meetings and four senior executives,
two of whom are from the Company's jointly controlled companies and
customers. It is responsible to the Board for overseeing the day-to-day
operation of the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities
for corporate governance, financial reporting, and corporate control.
The Committee consists of three Non-Executive Directors, two of
whom including the Chairman, L.K.K. Leong, are independent. All
the members served for the whole of 2009. At the invitation of the
Committee, the Director Finance, Head of Group Internal Audit of John
Swire & Sons (H.K.) Limited, and representatives of the external auditors
regularly attend its meetings. The Committee also meets regularly
with the external auditors without the presence of the Company's
management.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines set
out by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and are
available on the Company's website.

The Audit Committee met three times in 2009 and in March 2010. Each
meeting receives written reports from the external and internal auditors
covering matters of significance arising from the work conducted since the
previous meeting. The work of the Committee included the following matters:

e reviewing HAECO management's assessment of the effectiveness
of its system of internal control including financial, operational and
compliance controls. This assessment was based on completing control
self assessment questionnaires.

e reviewing HAECO management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its
risk management functions. This involved the compilation of registers
of the risks involved in managing the business and actively managing
the mitigation of these risks. Registers are kept both for enterprise
wide risks which are monitored by Executive Directors and for specific
risks which are monitored by departmental managers.

e reviewing the 2008 annual, 2009 interim and annual financial
statements.

e after reviewing the independence of the external auditors,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, and the policy on their conducting non-
audit work, recommending their re-appointment to the Board, for
the approval by shareholders. Approving the 2009 audit plan and the
auditors’ remuneration.

e approving the annual internal audit programme, reviewing progress
against the programme and discussing matters arising. The Company’s
internal audit coverage is provided by a combination of its own internal
section and visits by Swire Group Internal Audit.
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e reviewing the Company’s compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements.

Audit Committee meetings are usually held a few days before Board
meetings with the results of the Audit Committee’s work being reported
to and considered at the Board meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors,
two of whom — R.E. Adams and L.K.K. Leong - are Independent Non-
Executive Directors. It is chaired by P.A. Johansen. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee have been reviewed with reference to
the Code and are posted on the Company’s website.

Under a Services Agreement between the Company and John Swire &
Sons (H.K.) Limited, which has been considered in detail and approved by
the Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company, staff at various
levels, including Executive Directors, are seconded to the Company. Those
staff report to and take instructions from the Board of the Company but
remain employees of the John Swire & Sons Limited (“Swire") group.

In order to be able to attract and retain international staff of suitable
calibre, the Swire group provides a competitive remuneration package. This
comprises salary, provident fund, housing, leave-passage and education
allowances and, after three years' service, a bonus related to the profit
of the overall Swire group. The payment of bonuses on a group-wide
basis enables postings to be made to group companies with different
profitability profiles.

Although the remuneration of these executives is not entirely linked
to the profits of the Company, it is considered that, given the volatility
of aviation related businesses, this has contributed considerably to the
maintenance of a stable, motivated and high-calibre senior management
team in the Company. Furthermore, as a substantial shareholder of the
Company, it is in the best interest of Swire to see that executives of high
quality are seconded to and retained within the Company.

A number of Directors and senior staff with specialist skills are employed
directly by the Company on similar terms with the principal exception
that their bonuses are paid by reference to the results of the Company
alone.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed this policy and the levels of
remuneration paid to Executive Directors and Officers of the Company. At
its meeting in November, the Committee considered a report prepared for
it by Mercer Human Resource Consulting Limited, an independent firm
of consultants, which confirmed that the remuneration of the Company's
Executive Directors and Officers was in line with comparators in peer
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group companies. The Committee approved individual remuneration
packages to be paid in respect of 2010.

No Director takes part in any discussion about his or her own
remuneration.

The number of meetings held by the Board and Committees during the
year and the attendance of Directors who are members of these bodies is
set out in the table below.

W ZRERRODEBEEZNFHEREL TN
Ao REECHERRTRES S -SFENHMN
&A o

BRESUESEBEERGHMOEMAR

EZRREZEENFFERBRNERRBRER
ZEZEENESNHFERERN T RMAT -

Meetings Attended/Held
BELRERBUBTRE
Executive Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Directors &= =R YITEEE EREEE FMEES
Executive Directors HHEE
C. D. Pratt B&E 6/6
P. K. Chan B/m#& 6/6 10/11
A. K. W.Tang BB 6/6 11/11
J. C. G. Bremridge (note 1) @& (#zt 1) 2/2 3/3
M. Hayman 58X 6/6 11/11
M. M. S. Low 23k 6/6 1M1
M. J. A. Sathianathan (note 2) W&¥ (#zt2) 1/1 11
Non-Executive Directors ¥ EEE
M. Cubbon (note 3) ShHE (#fz% 3) 3/3
C. P. Gibbs & 6/6
D. C.Y. Ho farsE% 6/6
P.A. Johansen &5 6/6 3/3 3/3
M. B. Swire (note 4) iEtfRm (#faF4) 6/6
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHHEE
R. E. Adams #&ZzE 6/6 3/3 3/3
L. K. K. Leong RE# 4/6 3/3 3/3
A. K. Y. Lam #X=F 6/6
D.C.L.Tong BEF# 6/6

Notes: 1. J.C.G. Bremridge resigned with effect from 1st April 2009.
2. M.J.A. Sathianathan retired on 31st January 2009.
3. M. Cubbon resigned with effect from 13th May 2009.
4. M.B. Swire was appointed on 1st January 2009.

PREH=FFEAFAH— HEFE -
. DEFRR=FENF—A=1—HEIF-
. DA —FEAFRA = HERE -
. BHERR=EENF-F—-ABEF-

A WN =

External Auditors

The remuneration of the Group's external auditors is HK$2 million for
statutory audit fees as disclosed in note 4 to the accounts and HK$0.4
million for other assurance and tax advisory services. The auditors’ statement
regarding their reporting responsibilities is included in their audit report on
page 34.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
AREER

The Group closely monitors the impact of its operations on the
environment and makes every effort to reduce the extent of this impact.
Its facilities incorporated systems to minimise the impact of effluents
on the environment. It has an ongoing programme to reduce energy
and resource usage, and to recycle waste where practicable. It also
participated in a Swire group study on greenhouse gas emissions. Both
the Company and TAECO have published comprehensive environmental
reports on their Hong Kong and Mainland China operations respectively
which are accessible on their websites.

In 2009 the Company adopted a Sustainable Development Policy which:

e Recognised the link between shareholder value and the sustainable
development of its business and the communities in which they operate.

¢ Committed the Company to work on environmental, health and safety,
employment, supply chain and community issues which its operations
affect.

e Committed the Company to work with other parties to promote
sustainable development in the industries in which it operates.

e Published a Supplier Corporate, Social and Environmental Responsibility
Code of Conduct on the Company’s website.

A taskforce focusing on studying energy saving solutions has been
set up in order to tackle increasing energy consumption. Additional
representatives from various departments of the Company have
been nominated in order to address sustainable development more
comprehensively. Assistance from outside experts has been sought where
applicable.

Environment

The need to reduce energy consumption and greenhouse gas emission
as part of avoiding dangerous climate change is the key long-term
environmental issue for the Company. Actions taken include:

e The Company responds publicly to the Carbon Disclosure Project
questionnaire (www.cdproject.net) each year.

e The Company, TAECO and HAESL measure their carbon emission per
unit of activity.

SEZVERTHNREEXEERBERNTE -
ERERETZERRALS  BRAETKRERE
BREERNEE - RECHTEHENE . D6
BRERNEAE  XEATHERTEELERE
R KBNS EAE KB FIBEREFBRTETHH
R NEHEMALREIBRARNCHIREESE
RHBERENEERRZENRARE  TREEH
R H -

AEARZEZENERN—ENFERRIE 2K
%

o BRRROBAKEXERHENTHARR 2B
RUARBEME o

s FHAABNMEBRZIAEBRTENERE -
BRZ2  HEF - HEERSHE -

« FHARHNREMEF A EEBHBOER
EHTHERRIH -

s ROFEMURE (HEFHEE HERRREMET
RTR) o

REEHMEHEERNAREL —EAZE A - U
A BREMNERES - DRAEEEESREEM
WRRSETH  BREZEBENIFERRNME
B RRFCEEERERHINSREX KR

BERE

B RERIBAE KR 2 R HE R OA B Rl 8 B B 0 SR 1R 88
ZHEE  ERARIRNRBRFASH - CHREWNT
BARE

» ARGEY [RATEAE | (www.cdproject net)
BIEHABER -

o RE EMALZRBIBATAREBMERBIHE
ERBARSABES —EBETHRFRE -

ERRBIBAERLA



SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
DR:E &9

e The lighting in the office and hangars was replaced with a more
energy saving one which saves about 20,000Kwh each year in energy
consumption.

e A detailed analysis of the energy usage in different areas was
performed in order to develop a tailor-made energy saving solution.

e The Business Environmental Council carried out an audit of the
Company for the Clean Air Charter Certification Scheme and the
Company was certified compliant in March 2009.

e Under the Scheme of Indoor Air Quality Certification, the Company
employed an independent government approved consultant to carry out
the measurement and was awarded the “Good Class” grade in August
2009.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to conduct its business in a manner which
protects the health and safety of its employees, customers, business
associates and the public. Its safety management system includes
setting targets and monitoring performance. Extensive safety training
is carried out and safety audits are conducted annually to ensure that
statutory requirements are being met and to improve safety management
performance.

Being a socially responsible company, the Company recognises its
obligations to safequard the health and safety of all employees,
customers, visitors, contractors and others who may be affected by its
activities. To reinforce this important commitment, the Company’s Health
and Safety policy was reviewed and updated in 2009.

To strive for better health and safety performance, safety programmes
have been reviewed regularly with improvement including better design
of equipment and workplaces; implementation of best housekeeping
practices; continuous training and participation in workshops in which
best health and safety practices are shared among the airport community.

To enhance traffic safety performance, a series of safe driving initiatives
were developed and implemented. These initiatives included the selection,
training and assessment of competent drivers, installation of state-of-the-
art monitoring devices on vehicles, centralisation of driving performance
data and establishment of a reminding system for drivers.

With all those concerted efforts, the occurrences of traffic and bodily
injury incidents were reduced by 36% and 12% respectively in 2009.

Employees

HAECO is an equal opportunities employer, offering its staff competitive
compensation and benefit packages. It operates different types of
trainee schemes that aim to train local people to be specialists in aircraft
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maintenance. It provides training and development programmes to help
staff realise their full potential and develop their careers in the Company.
It strives to provide an environment that promotes diversity and respect,
safeguards health and safety and encourages an appropriate work-life
balance.

The Company's medical benefit schemes cover the health needs of
its staff and their family members. The Company Clinics, apart from

BEBIRBRSE RETUV-RAR > ELFH
REX - RABHIEH-—ERESZTIREE  RE
BERZZ  THEEZHFEIEEETNIER

o

AANBREA UREATREFANRERE -
AADFBRHEFRESN SRS TR AES

B
providing medical services, organise rehabilitation programmes for T
staff.
The Group's headcount was: EENEEABAT :
Changeo
2009 2008 %iE
HAECO 4,621 4,361 - BRIRE
TAECO 5,094 5,268 -3 EMALREIEAR
HAESL 892 908 -2 EEMERBREERE AR
Other subsidiary and jointly controlled companies in BRIBREMASREIRORAEEREWK
which HAECO and TAECO own more than 20% 2,008 1,701  +18 BROHEMMERAEAR
12,615 12,738 -1

Communities

During the year, the Group and its staff made charitable donations
of around HK$3 million. This included HK$2.8 million to Hong Kong
charities through The Swire Group Charitable Trust, HK$53,000 raised in
the 24-hour Pedal Kart Grand Prix for charitable causes in Hong Kong,
HK$42,100 to the Hong Kong Polytechnic University as bursary for its
students and HK$34,000 for the Tai Lam Tree Planting project.

In recognition of the Company's contribution to the community, the
Company was presented the following awards:

— 'Caring Company Logo" awarded by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service in appreciation of the efforts made by the Company to care
for its staff and the community.

— 'Caring Training Employer' award presented by the Labour
Department in recognition of the efforts made by the Company in
developing the youth in Hong Kong.

— 'Certificate of Appreciation’ presented by the Salvation Army Hong
Kong in recognition of the efforts made by the Company to provide
career development opportunities to people in our community.

— 'Certificate of Appreciation’ presented by the Labour Department
as a token of appreciation to the Company for providing internship
positions and on-the-job training to university graduates.

The Company is an active member of the HKIA community. It co-operates
with the Airport Authority to promote safety and environmental protection
at the airport and make presentations to overseas delegations.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
EERES

Executive Directors

PRATT, Christopher Dale *+, CBE, aged 53, has been Chairman and a
Director of the Company since August 2006. He is also Chairman of John
Swire & Sons (H.K.) Limited, Swire Pacific Limited, Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited and Swire Properties Limited, and a Director of The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and Air China Limited. He
joined the Swire group in 1978 and in addition to Hong Kong has worked
with the group in Australia and Papua New Guinea.

CHAN, Ping Kit, aged 64, has been Deputy Chairman since August
2001. He first joined the Company in 1966 and resigned as Deputy Chief
Engineer (Maintenance) in June 1990. He rejoined in December 1992
as General Manager (Base Maintenance & China Operations) and was
appointed a Director in November 1993 and Managing Director in July
1998. He was Chief Executive Officer from August 2001 until October
2008 and has contracted to work for Taikoo (Xiamen) Aircraft Engineering
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, as Executive Chairman
for a term of three years until 31st October 2011.

TANG, Kin Wing Augustus *, aged 51, has been a Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since October 2008 and November
2008 respectively. He joined the Swire group in 1982 and has worked
with Cathay Pacific Airways Limited in Hong Kong, Malaysia and Japan.

HAYMAN, Mark, aged 49, joined the Company in October 2001 and
has been Director Engineering since February 2002. He was previously
General Manager Engineering Planning and Technical Supplies of Cathay
Pacific Airways Limited. He joined the Swire group in 1987.

LOW, Mei Shuen Michelle *, aged 49, has been Director Finance
since March 2007. She was previously Finance Director of Swire Pacific
Limited — Trading & Industrial Division, and The China Navigation
Company Limited. She joined the Swire group in August 1987.
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Non-Executive Directors

GIBBS, Christopher Patrick, aged 48, has been a Director of the
Company since January 2007. He is also Engineering Director of Cathay
Pacific Airways Limited and a Director of Hong Kong Aero Engine Services
Limited. He joined Cathay Pacific Airways Limited in 1992,

HO, Cho Ying Davy *, aged 62, has been a Director of the Company
since September 1999. He will retire as a Director with effect from 1st
April 2010. He joined the Swire group in 1970 and has worked with the
group in Hong Kong and Taiwan. He is also a Director of Swire Pacific
Limited and John Swire & Sons (H.K.) Limited.

JOHANSEN, Peter André **, aged 67, has been a Director of
the Company since July 1984 and is Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. He joined the Swire group in 1973 and worked in Hong Kong,
Japan and the United Kingdom before retiring from John Swire & Sons
Limited on 31st December 2008. He is also a Director of Swire Pacific
Limited.

SWIRE, Merlin Bingham *, aged 36, has been a Director of the
Company since January 2009. He joined the Swire group in 1997 and
has worked with the group in Hong Kong, Australia, Mainland China and
London. He was Director and Chief Executive Officer of Taikoo (Xiamen)
Aircraft Engineering Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
from May 2006 until June 2008. He is a Director and shareholder of John
Swire & Sons Limited and Swire Pacific Limited.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

ADAMS, Robert Ernest **, aged 66, has been a Director of the
Company since October 2004. He is the Managing Director of Fung
Capital Asia Investments Limited, a member of the Li & Fung group. He
was previously an Executive Director of CITIC Pacific Limited.

LAM, Kwong Yu Albert, SBS, aged 65, has been a Director of the
Company since May 2006. He had more than 41 years of service with
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and
had been Director-General of Civil Aviation since October 1998 until
his retirement in April 2004. He is also an Independent Director of New
World First Bus Services Limited, and an Independent Non-Executive
Director of China Southern Airlines Company Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
EXRER

LEONG, Kwok Kuen Lincoln #*, aged 49, has been a Director of the
Company since March 2003 and is Chairman of the Audit Committee. He
is also Finance and Business Development Director of MTR Corporation
Limited and a Non-Executive Director of Tai Ping Carpets International
Limited.

TONG, Chi Leung David, aged 39, has been a Director of the
Company since May 2006. He is also a Director of Sir Elly Kadoorie
& Sons Limited, Director of CLP Power Hong Kong Limited, Deputy
Chairman of Hong Kong Business Aviation Centre Limited and a Non-
Executive Director of Tai Ping Carpets International Limited.

Alternate: The Hon. Sir Michael David KADOORIE

Executive Officers

CHAN, Ching Summit -, aged 44, joined the Swire group in 1988
and has worked with the group in Hong Kong and Singapore. He was
appointed Commercial Director of the Company in February 2009.

CHI, Tin Mong John, aged 65, joined the Company in 1962. He was
appointed Director and Chief Operating Officer of Taikoo (Xiamen)
Aircraft Engineering Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China, in September 1996.

HEALY, Patrick *, aged 44, joined the Swire group in 1988 and has
worked with the group in Hong Kong, Germany and Mainland China. He
was appointed Director and Chief Executive Officer of Taikoo (Xiamen)
Aircraft Engineering Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China, in July 2008.

TANG, Kwok Kit Kenny +, aged 55, has been Corporate Development
Director of the Company since September 2009. He joined the Swire
group in 1979 and was previously Chief Operating Officer of AHK Air
Hong Kong Limited and Chief Executive Officer of Hong Kong Dragon
Airlines Limited.

Secretary
FU, Yat Hung David *, aged 46, has been Company Secretary since
January 2006. He joined the Swire group in 1988.

Notes:

#Member of the Audit Committee

* Member of the Remuneration Committee

* Employees of the John Swire & Sons Limited group
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EERRE

The Directors submit their report and the audited accounts for the year
ended 31st December 2009, which are set out on pages 35 to 84. Details
of the following items are set out in the accounts as follows:
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Results #4& Consolidated Income Statement SREWER 35

Principal activities EZ ¥ Note 1 BiEE 1 M

Interest F 2 Note 8 FizE8 50
Fixed assets EIE & & Note 13 BiEE13 52-54

Share capital B4 Note 25 FEE25 66

Reserves f#&f& Note 26 BizE26 67

Commitments 7&ig Notes 30 and 31 M&E30% 31 69
Continuing connected transactions #&EBER 5 Note 33 B33 71-72

Ten-year Financial Summary
A ten-year financial summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group is shown on pages 4 and 5.

Dividends

The Directors recommend the payment of final dividend for 2009 of
HK$1.50 per share which, together with the interim dividend paid on
22nd September 2009 of HK$0.50 per share, makes total dividends for
the year of HK$2.00, a reduction of 37.1% from that for 2008. This
represents a total distribution for the year of HK$332 million. Subject
to the approval of the 2009 final dividend by the shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting on 11th May 2010, it is expected that the final
dividend will be paid on 20th May 2010 to shareholders registered at the
close of business on the record date, being 11th May 2010. The share
register will be closed from 5th May 2010 to 11th May 2010, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for entitlement to the final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's share registrars, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 4th May 2010.

Donations
During the year the Company and its subsidiary companies made
donations for charitable purposes totalling HK$3 million.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EXERESE

Agreement for Services

The Company has an agreement for services with John Swire & Sons (H.K.)
Limited ("JSSHK"), the particulars of which are set out in note 33 to the
accounts, on continuing connected transactions.

As directors/employees of the John Swire & Sons Limited (" Swire”) group,
J.C.G. Bremridge, M. Cubbon, D.C.Y. Ho, M.M.S. Low, C.D. Pratt, M.B.
Swire and A.K.W. Tang are interested in the JSSHK Services Agreement (as
defined below).

Particulars of the fees paid and expenses reimbursed for the year ended
31st December 2009 are set out in note 33 to the accounts.

Major Customers and Suppliers (Significant Contracts)
63.9% of sales and 41.3% of purchases during the year were attributable

to the Group's five largest customers and suppliers respectively. 46.7% of
sales were made to the Group’s largest customer, Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited ("CX"), its subsidiaries Hong Kong Dragon Airlines Limited (“KA")
and AHK Air Hong Kong Limited, while 20.8% of purchases were from the
largest supplier, Aero Inventory (U.K.) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Aero Inventory plc. (Aero Inventory plc and Aero Inventory
(U.K.) Limited have been in administration since 11th November 2009.)

In respect of the Company's transactions with CX and KA:

1. (X and its controlling shareholder Swire Pacific Limited are
interested as substantial shareholders of the Company;

2. J.C.G. Bremridge and M.M.S. Low were interested as shareholders of
CX;

3. C.P. Gibbs is interested as employee of CX; and

4. M. Cubbon and C.D. Pratt were interested as directors of CX.

Save as disclosed above, no Director, any of their associates or any
shareholder who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital (other than in respect of CX) has
an interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed above.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Independent Non-Executive Directors, who are not interested in any
connected transactions with the Group, have reviewed and confirmed
that the continuing connected transactions as set out in note 33 have
been entered into by the Group:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
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commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties;
and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The Auditors of the Company have also reviewed these transactions and
confirmed to the Board that:

(a) they have been approved by the Board of the Company;

(b) they are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if the
transactions involve provision of goods or services by the Group);

(c) they have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) they have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in
previous announcements.

Directors

The names of the present Directors are listed on pages 26 to 28. All the
present Directors served throughout the year and still hold office at the
date of this report.

M.B. Swire was appointed as a Director on 1st January 2009. M.J.A.
Sathianathan served as a Director until his retirement on 31st January
2009. J.C.G. Bremridge and M. Cubbon served as Directors until their
resignations on 1st April 2009 and 13th May 2009 respectively.

The Hon. Sir Michael Kadoorie served as Alternate Director to D.C.L. Tong
during the year.

Article 93 of the Company's Articles of Association provides for all
Directors to retire at the third Annual General Meeting following their
election by ordinary resolution. In accordance therewith C.D. Pratt, C.P.
Gibbs, P.A. Johansen, A.K.Y. Lam, M.M.S. Low and D.C.L. Tong retire at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the Directors has entered into a letter of appointment, which
constitutes a service contract, with the Company for a term of up to
three years until his retirement under Article 91 or Article 93 of the
Avrticles of Association of the Company, which will be renewed for a term
of three years upon each election/re-election. No Director has a service
contract with the Company that is not determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ExERASE

Fees totalling HK$ 1.4 million were paid to the Independent Non-Executive
Directors during the year; they received no other emoluments from the
Company or any of its subsidiary companies.

Directors’ Interests

At 31st December 2009, the registers maintained under Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") showed that the following
Directors held beneficial interests in the shares of the Company and
Taikoo (Xiamen) Aircraft Engineering Company Limited, its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO):

FRAXNFRUFERESNHRSATTER —FD
TET MEES D AREEMHE QR RERE
S

BTG

R-BEZENFFTZA=1T—R  REISZRPERK
BISE3s2R AR N EMAFMERL ESERAR
Higg i E (ERRESRAERHIEXVER) BEPIA
ARBIRERATNROPFEUTES

Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Limited  Capacity No. of shares Percentage of issued capital (%) Note

RERBIBERAT BEEH ROEE HEBRTRAE D (%) MiE

The Hon. Sir Michael David Kadoorie Trust 3,782,886 2.27 1

(Alternate Director) 55t

KEREEEL(RES)

D. C. L. Tong Personal 20,000 0.01

BEFR A

Taikoo (Xiamen) Aircraft Engineering

Company Limited Capacity Percentage of issued capital (%) Note

ERALREIEERAF BESH HEBRITRAE D (%) MiE
Controlled

P.K. Chan corporation 2.00 2

[0S FEEE

Notes: Hiiz:

1. The Hon. Sir Michael David Kadoorie is one of the beneficiaries and the founder of a discretionary trust 1. KEFEER L ERARERERGHBEETHRF — U F 8 A

which ultimately holds these shares. RAEIZA °

2. The shares are held by Kin Kuen Development Company Limited in which PK. Chan holds a 30% interest.

Other than as stated above, no Director or Chief Executive of the Company
had any interest or short position, whether beneficial or non-beneficial, in
the shares or underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Neither during nor prior to the year under review has any right been
granted to, or exercised by, any Director of the Company, or to or by the
spouse or minor child of any Director, to subscribe for shares, warrants or
debentures of the Company.

At no time during the year did any Director, other than as stated in this
report, have a beneficial interest, whether directly or indirectly, in a
contract to which the Company, or any of its associated corporations was
a party, which was of significance and in which the Director’s interest
was material.
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At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its associated
corporations, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

None of the Directors and their respective associates has any competing
interests which need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Interests

The register of interests in shares and short positions maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31st December 2009 the
Company had been notified of the following interests in the shares of the
Company held by substantial shareholders and other persons:

EAFEEASER  ATHEETEBEE - #
BENZHERAESBUBEATNAMEAR
ENROIEFMESHS

EERRSLEEORL
AANEBRAEEWBRALEBREFAETM
$£4  HERIELTRASES 0RAEETHE
P o

FERFREGRAMER

RIEFE SR MERGIEIB6HEARLNRD RAXRE
HEMAE R-2BAEF+T=A=1+—-0 ' QF
CEFERRREMASBERNR 2 TNRMDEEL
TR

4
el

Number of Percentage of
shares issued capital (%) Type of interest (notes)
RpEE ERTRAEIL (%) R (FEE)
1. Cathay Pacific Airways Limited 24,948,728 15.00 Beneficial owner
ERMEERAE BREEA
2. Swire Pacific Limited 101,397,903 60.96 Beneficial owner and attributable interest®
AERGBERAA BREE ARELERD
3. John Swire & Sons Limited 101,397,903 60.96 Attributable interest®
KEALEEBRAR FEfLRER®

Notes: At 31st December 2009:

(1) Swire Pacific Limited was interested in 76,449,175 shares of the Company as
beneficial owner and was also deemed to be interested in the 24,948,728 shares of
the Company directly held by Cathay Pacific Airways Limited by virtue of Swire Pacific
Limited'’s interest of approximately 41.97% in Cathay Pacific Airways Limited;,

(2) John Swire & Sons Limited (“Swire”) and its wholly owned subsidiary John Swire
& Sons (H.K.) Limited are deemed to be interested in the 101,397,903 shares of the
Company, in which Swire Pacific Limited was interested, by virtue of the Swire group’s
interests in shares of Swire Pacific Limited representing approximately 38.99% of the
issued share capital and approximately 56.84% of the voting rights.

Public Float

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of its Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital has been held by the public at all times.

Auditors

A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
Auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

By order of the Board
Christopher Pratt

Chairman
Hong Kong, 9th March 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
W L% RS

To the shareholders of Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering
Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set
out on pages 35 to 84, which comprise the consolidated and Company statements of
financial position as at 31st December 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st December 2009 and of the Group's
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 9th March 2010
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

GAEWEE
for the year ended 31st December 2009 BZ—EFENF+=-A=+—HIFEE
Note izt 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥HETT)
Turnover 4 4,045 4,901 - {08
Operating expenses: BXEMX :
Staff remuneration and benefits 5 (1,980) (1,965) LA =g DSEER
Cost of direct material and job expenses (921) (1,208) EEMRERR TR
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 13 (358) (305) e ~ MERE
Insurance and utilities (103) (101) R A AR
Operating lease rentals — land and buildings (129) (116) EEHERS — THRET
Repairs and maintenance (121) (154) (E3ENSE:A LS
Other operating expenses (88) (134) Hith& 3£
(3,700) (3,983)
Other net gains 7 40 92 Hoth e &2 9 8
Operating profit 385 1,010 BERAN
Net finance (charge)/income 8 (5) 7 M5 (ZH) N SR
Net operating profit 380 1,017 BRPaH
Share of after-tax results of jointly controlled
companies 15 420 462 FE(S LR A F)RR IR R R
Profit before taxation 800 1,479 FRiRana
Taxation 9 (40) (129) nm
Profit for the year 760 1,350 EERF
Profit attributable to: FE{&RF :
The Company's shareholders 10 688 1,138 DRPRR
Minority interests 72 212 DEIRRER
760 1,350
Dividends Be
Interim — paid 83 155 HRE— 2y
Final — proposed/paid 249 374 RE — FR/EAS
11 332 529
(in HK$) (B7)
Earnings per share attributable to the Company's AT SRET
shareholders (basic and diluted) 12 4.14 6.84 (BERHE)

HEN+—EZEEt+ZERHERA
Bt1THEEENTHENEESTTHE
B IR A — BB ©

The notes on pages 41 to 73 and the principal accounting policies
on pages 74 to 84 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEETEWNER

for the year ended 31st December 2009 #Z=—ZZEhF+=HA=1+—HLFE

2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
Profit for the year 760 1,350 EERT
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hti2EE2/(SR) :
Changes in cash flow hedges RERBETEB
— recognised during the year 1 (68) — REFRER
— deferred tax recognised 7 5 — BRRELERE
— transferred to other net gains (47) (51) — BREHMNEREE
Exchange translation differences on foreign operations 1 (4) TBINETEEE S ERR
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (28) (118) BRR&EXEHM2EER
Total comprehensive income for the year 732 1,232 AFEREGBEE
Total comprehensive income attributable to: BE2mk a8
The Company's shareholders 673 1,073 NG S
Minority interests 59 159 DEIRRE S
732 1,232
Note: Items other than cash flow hedges shown within other Bifat © FER MR E KT8 T AR RYE B BR
comprehensive income have no tax effect. B mEEt  HEHBZE -
The notes on pages 41 to 73 and the principal accounting policies HEN1+—BEZEt=BHKFRA
on pages 74 to 84 form part of these financial statements. EtTHREENTHENFEEBR

HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

GEMBRR K
at 31st December 2009 —EENF+=_A=+—H#&
Note fffa 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HERAR
Non-current assets ERBRE
Property, plant and equipment 13 4,618 4,197 W - BERRE
Leasehold land and land use rights 13 317 326 FAE bz + 3t 55 FAE
Intangible assets 13 551 545 B EE
Jointly controlled companies 15 988 907 HIERT
Derivative financial instruments 19 4 9 THESmIA
Deferred tax assets 18 39 32 EAERIEEE
Retirement benefit assets 17 272 211 RIABRNEE
6,789 6,227
Current assets mERE
Stocks of aircraft parts 21 221 130 REEMHEE
Work in progress 21 111 195 REIE
Trade and other receivables 22 536 628 B 5 Rk HMERFRIE
Taxation recoverable 8 - AT Ug B 18
Derivative financial instruments 19 13 49 THESmIA
Cash and cash equivalents 29(b) 844 881 RERFEZEY
Short-term deposits 29(b) 139 11 EHER
1,872 1,894
Current liabilities mBRAR
Trade and other payables 23 989 1,112 B 5 RHEMEMATRE
Taxation payable - 45 FE{S i T8
Derivative financial instruments 19 15 7 THESmIA
Short-term loans 24 425 289 EHER
Long-term loans due within one year 24 106 - —FAREBEENRIER
1,535 1,453
Net current assets 337 441 B R ERE
Total assets less current liabilities 7,126 6,668 REAERTDAR
Non-current liabilities FERBRE
Long-term loans 24 595 388 REER
Receipt in advance 28 79 90 SELVETRE
Derivative financial instruments 19 - 18 PTHEEmIA
Deferred tax liabilities 18 311 272 B IEEE
985 768
NET ASSETS 6,141 5,900 HESRE
EQUITY #a
Share capital 25 166 166 &S
Reserves 26 5,011 4,795 i
Equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders 5177 4,961 AFIREEEER
Minority interests 27 964 939 PHERES
TOTAL EQUITY 6,141 5,900 RRfBd
The financial statements have been approved by the Board of BB REHESFEE  LHT
Directors and signed on their behalf by: ATAREZRGHEE :
Christopher Pratt EE
Lincoln Leong BicE
Directors ZEIE

Hong Kong, 9th March 2010

The notes on pages 41 to 73 and the principal accounting policies
on pages 74 to 84 form part of the these financial statements.

&8 —E-EF=ANA
HEN+—EEEt+=BHHERH
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B U BEIRR A —E D °

EBERBIBRERAR 37



COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NEHMBERRRE

at 31st December 2009 —EZENF+__B=1+—H#&ZE

Note ffta 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B EEBIT)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HERRAR
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment 13 2,572 2,339 Y% - BMERRE
Leasehold land 13 16 16 HELT
Intangible assets 13 - 1 B ERE
Subsidiary companies 14 738 738 CRp NG
Jointly controlled companies 15 135 92 HiENF
Loan to a subsidiary company 14 11 = F—XMBRRER
Retirement benefit assets 17 272 211 BIKEFEE
3,744 3,397
Current assets mENEE
Stocks of aircraft parts 21 156 69 REZHFE
Work in progress 21 79 99 RELRE
Trade and other receivables 22 418 561 E 5K HEWEIE
Taxation recoverable 2 - ATUR B 5 18
Dividend receivable 44 88 W E
Cash and cash equivalents 393 307 RERREEEY
1,092 1,124
Current liabilities mE R
Trade and other payables 23 605 693 BH REMEMNRIE
Taxation payable - 18 P HE
Short-term loans 24 200 — EHEM
805 711
Net current assets 287 413 WENEERE
Total assets less current liabilities 4,031 3,810 SEGERTDAR
Non-current liabilities JERENA R
Receipt in advance 28 79 90 FEWRIE
Deferred tax liabilities 18 256 215 EERIBEEE
335 305
NET ASSETS 3,696 3,505 HERE
EQUITY Ha
Equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders LFIREEEER
Share capital 25 166 166 RS
Reserves 26 3,530 3,339 &
TOTAL EQUITY 3,696 3,505 Eawm
The financial statements have been approved by the Board of BIBRREHEFRFEB WHTL
Directors and signed on their behalf by: ALTREKXEFHZE -
Christopher Pratt Bz
Lincoln Leong BicE
Directors RERE

Hong Kong, 9th March 2010

The notes on pages 41 to 73 and the principal accounting policies
on pages 74 to 84 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHEERER

for the year ended 31st December 2009 BZ—FEFENF+=-A=+—HI-FEE

Note Btz 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHET)
Operating activities BERY
Cash generated from operations 29(a) 790 1,193 REELEENES
Interest paid (13) (11) ENFE
Interest received 6 19 [ELES
Profits tax paid (54) (137) 2 FIEH
Net cash generated from operating activities 729 1,064 REBEXRBHBRE BN
Investing activities BEED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (897) (713) BEYE  BERRKE
Purchase of intangible assets (8) (515) BEEFEE
Sale of property, plant and equipment 6 41 HEWE  BERRE
Proceed from disposals of shareholdings in jointly controlled
companies - 86 HEHED R REFTSHRIE
Acquisition of a subsidiary company - (218) BA—XHBLRE
Purchase of shareholdings in jointly controlled companies (42) (67) BEHEARIRE
Loans advanced to a jointly controlled company (19) = F-REZEATER
Loans repaid by a jointly controlled company 6 = —RXHAENREEERK
Loans advanced to a third party - (13) FE=ZFER
Loans repaid by a third party - 2 FE=HEEEX
Dividends received from jointly controlled companies 392 381 SR EARRE
Net (increase)/decrease in short-term deposits other than BRIRERBEEEYIMNIVERER
cash and cash equivalents (128) 6 (3B )2 FEE
Net cash used in investing activities (690) (1,010) BERBRANE &3
Net cash inflow before financing activities 39 54 MERBANRLSTABE
Financing activities L€ £
Capital contribution from minority interests - 35 DERREE
Proceeds from loans 893 5717 ERFEF0R
Repayment of loans (444) (90) EEER
Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders (457) (521) ENFARRRIERE
Dividends paid to the minority interests (67) (33) ENFLOEBRRIERE
Net cash used in financing activities (75) (32) WBEEBMANESPHE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (36) 22 ReRBAESSEM(ED)EMBE
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 881 859 —A—BZ&AENRERASZEY
Translation adjustment (1) = B 50 2
Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December 29(b) 844 881 +oA=E+—HREENBRERBELEED

The notes on pages 41 to 73 and the principal accounting policies
on pages 74 to 84 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GAETZEHR

for the year ended 31st December 2009 #Z=—ZZEhF+=HA=1+—HLFE

Attributable to the Company’s
shareholders

PEIlEY 2
Minority
Share Revenue  Other interests Total
capital reserve reserves Total wmmm=m  equity
Note Hfitat RA  hmEfEE Ht#E 88 s AR
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EETT)
At 1st January 2009 166 4,749 46 4,961 939 5,900 —ETThF—A—BHEEHE
Profit for the year - 688 - 688 72 760 | AREHF
Other comprehensive loss - - (15)  (15) (13) (28)| HttzmEEE
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year - 688 (15) 673 59 732 FER2EBS/(BIR)EHE
Dividends paid and payable - (457) - (457) (34) (491) EREMER
At 31st December 2009 166 4,980 31 5,177 964 6,141 —EBAFE+A=+—HEH
Attributable to the Company’s
shareholders
PEIlEY 2
Minority
Share Revenue  Other interests Total
capital reserve reserves Total wmmm=  equity
RA  WsmfAE HtufEe 88 xR EmAE
(in HK$ Million) (B EET)
At 1st January 2008 166 4,132 111 4,409 485 4894 Z=ZENF-—HA—B#EHE
Profit for the year = 1,138 - 1,138 212 1,350 | AEEF
Other comprehensive loss = - (65) (65) (53)  (118)| HtbzmEEE
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year - 1,138 (65) 1,073 159 1,232 ZF2EWNE/(EER)EZE
Change in composition of Group 27 = - - - 71 71 EEHEEH
Dividends (paid and payable)/
cancellation = (521) - (521) 224 (297) EAAREMKE)REBHE
At 31st December 2008 166 4,749 46 4,961 939 5900 Z=FENF+-A=+-—HEEHE

The notes on pages 41 to 73 and the principal accounting policies
on pages 74 to 84 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Rk B M &t

1. Principal activities

The Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Limited Group is engaged in
commercial aircraft overhaul, modification and maintenance mainly in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Segment information is provided in note 4.

The principal activities of the Group’s subsidiary and jointly controlled companies
are set out on page 73. Financial summaries of the jointly controlled companies
are provided in note 15.

2. Financial risk management
(a) Financial risk factors
The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks including foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain
risk exposures, principally foreign exchange risk, using forward contracts. It
is the Group's policy not to enter into derivative transactions for speculative
purposes.
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar and Renminbi.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations
that are denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional
currency.

The Group Treasury's risk management policy is to hedge not more than
100% of anticipated foreign currency cash flows (largely represented by
operating and capital expenditure) in each major foreign currency for the
subsequent 36 months, provided that the cost of the foreign exchange
forward or derivative contract is not prohibitively expensive in comparison to
the underlying exposure.

At 31st December 2009, if the HK dollar had weakened/strengthened by
5% against the Renminbi with all other variables held constant, total equity
would have been HK$3 million (2008: HK$15 million) higher/lower, arising
mainly from the movement in the cash flow hedge reserve caused by fair
value changes on the derivative financial instruments.

(ii) Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the
Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. During
2008 and 2009, the Group's borrowings were at variable rates and were
primarily denominated in HK dollar and US dollar.

1. E2%%H
ERRBICERAAKEZTEZEERTBRP AN ER
EEHARBKRE  REREBER - DHERRKE4
ik o
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
iR B MR

2. Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and
cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial
institutions, generally only independently rated parties with a rating not
lower than “A" are accepted. The Group has policies in place to evaluate
credit risk when accepting new business and limit its credit exposure to any
individual customer.

The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to financial guarantees is
outlined as follows:
Company A&
2009 2008

2. MERBER(E)
(a) HEEKREZ (&)

(i) EERER

FERRUSBAERETER -FERRREES
RESZEY FTAELRMIARBANMBERES
F o UREFFBRNEERR  BIFRTHERE
ERERENRS - SE—RRABIBIFZFER
[A] WERTREHHE - REESIEHR  EEZ

BRI EERR - WRHEMEREFRERN
FERBEE

BN BEREBNEERRNEARBBRLNT

(in HK$ Million)
Financial guarantees 448 316

(BHEET)
MBER

(iv) Liquidity risk

The Group maintains sufficient cash and adequate undrawn committed
revolving credit facilities to reduce liquidity risk and to allow for flexibility in
meeting funding requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserves
(comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents)
on the basis of expected cash flow. The undiscounted payment profile of
financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date to
the contractual maturity date is outlined as follows:

(iv) ZEES R

EEASZONESR EANKRBRAERERREE
ZH o URERBESERREFTERETRESL T
BEM o
EEERBHRLREEREERDESHE (BEX
BRAEEZHUARRESRRESEY) WREER - R
BRAEAZENEBACENHGREE  BEEE
M IR R BRI T

2009
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 Tyearbut 2 years but
undiscounted year or on less than less than
cash flow demand 2 years 5 years More than
BRI (BB —£R —fFp AL E 5 years
RERBAG HIRER BLRME EBLRAF HENE
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EETT)
Group &m
Bank loans (including interest
obligations) 1,138 538 441 159 -  SRITEX (BEMNEER)
Trade and other payables 989 989 - - - ESRHEMENTRE
Derivative financial liabilities
at notional value 318 318 = = -  EUBEENEREE
2,445 1,845 441 159 =
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2. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)

2. MERBREE(E)
(a) B EBEE ()
(iv) RBEZER (&)

2008
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 1yearbut 2 years but
undiscounted year or on less than less than
cash flow demand 2 years 5 years More than
AR (BEBA) —ER —FUE MELE 5 years
REnERT WRER ELRmE BLRAEF REUE
(in HK$ Million) (B EET)
Group £E
Bank loans (including interest
obligations) 703 300 10 393 - RITER (BEFEEM)
Trade and other payables 1,112 1,112 - = = E5 R EMENTER
Derivative financial liabilities
at notional value 515 197 318 = = TERBEBENERER
2,330 1,609 328 393 -
2009
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 1 year but 2 years but
undiscounted year or on less than less than
cash flow demand 2 years 5 years More than
EHIRETAD) —FR —FuE MELE 5 years
RERBEGT RIRER BLRAME BLREF HEUE
(in HK$ Million) (B EHET)
Company 27
Bank loans (including interest
obligations) 200 200 - - = BITER (BEMNEEM)
Trade and other payables 605 605 - - - B 5 RHAMEMNFRIE
Financial guarantees 448 M 320 87 - IHER
1,253 846 320 87 -
2008
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 1yearbut 2 years but
undiscounted year or on less than less than
cash flow demand 2 years 5 years More than
AKI(BEEA) —fFR — Lk FEL L 5 years
RERBAsT WIEER BLRME ELRAF HEUE
(in HK$ Million) (B EHET)
Company N
Trade and other payables 693 693 - - - S RHMENTIE
Financial guarantees 316 25 - 291 - BBER
1,009 718 — 291 =
Note: Forward foreign exchange contracts are included in the derivative financial liabilities to i BB ITENBEEZR - LURREFEE
reduce the Group’s exposure to changes in exchange rates. HEBELIRE -
(b) Capital risk management (b) EXRRER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's EETEEESWERE  ERBEEMEELE  #MAR

ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for HIEMER REEAFSAEENRG  RESEEN
shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital EREBUREE S A o

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is REZARFAMUERERAR - ALRRUERFER

calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity. Net borrowings are
calculated as total borrowings (including “current and non-current borrowings”

LSRR - fRFERUERAR (BREFSHBMRR
RIATH DRBRERDEN] ) MERRRITELR - &
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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2. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Capital risk management (continued)

as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less deposits
and bank balances. Total equity is calculated as “equity attributable to the
Company'’s shareholders” plus “minority interests” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The gearing ratio at 31st December 2009 is 2.3%
(2008: no net borrowings). The Company has entered into financial covenants in
respective of maintenance of minimum consolidated net worth to secure funding.
To date, none of the covenants has been breached.

(c) Fair value estimation

Effective 1st January 2009, the group adopted the amendment to HKFRS 7 for

financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at

fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level based on
the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The Group’s only financial instruments impacted by such valuation methods
are derivatives used for hedging. The fair value of derivatives used for hedging
is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the instruments therefore are all categorised as level 2. The fair
value of these derivatives used for hedging are assets of HK$17 million and
liabilities of HK$15 million.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market
(for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that
are based on market conditions existing at each financial reporting date. Other
techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair
value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of forward foreign
exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates in the
market at the reporting date.

The carrying value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables
and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Group for similar financial instruments.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions as appropriate in the preparation
of the accounts. These estimates are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances and will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are discussed below:
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(a) Impairment of assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill and other assets that have
indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment. Other assets are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit has been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Judgement
is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

4. Segment information

The Group is engaged in commercial aircraft overhaul, modification and
maintenance mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Management has
determined the operating segments based on the reports used by the Board of
Directors to assess performance and allocate resources. The Board considers the
business primarily from an entity perspective.

The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the reportable

segments for the year ended is as follows: HAESL

ERMERBRECRELT
Adjustments

. EEEHGHRAEK(E)

(a) BEME
SEZOSFHEERAEMTASGESNEEERR
URERSHEARE HtEENEBRRIREELET
HEEERHETRESERERERN - EERRLE
EENNA N EHBEREEREETERAEE - 2E5
BERERERIEMEE -

(b) P53t

SEEEZERLIERRHNAEN - EETHEHRE
B BEEHAN EAZXBBERET  FEZREREE
RABIENTTE R ERERE o iRATIAEREDSER
FHETRE - AERERSSEFHATHENEMEH
RIESEFRSHIRAE o

4. s HEH
SEITEREERTENGEREFAREAE  RERE
B%%  EEHECREEZRAFETIEEERARIBE
BHHREE BEEEIH ESRTENERNERY
EBEHER -

RETEZRBEAFLEEEI RN D HENNT ¢

Inter-
segment

Other  elimination/

to reflect the segments — unallocated

TAECO  TEXL Group's  subsidiary  adjustments
BRAL ERAL equity share  companies  HE>R
HAECO TR 28 At100% HAELURM HtipE-— HEH/ Total
BEIR AR REAR 4GESE SEOER  HBAE  ROESRE st

(in HK$ Million) (BEEET)
Year ended 31st December BE_SBAE+ZA

2009 =+—HLEE
External turnover 2,708 1,260 - 7,033 (7,033) 36 - 4,004 #pexem
Inter-segment turnover 116 5 - 2 (2) 9 (89) A HEBEEAR
Total turnover 2,824 1,265 - 17,035 (7,035) 45 (89) 4,045 wxmEmEs
Operating profit/(loss) 264 209 (43) 832 (832) (45) - 385 EEEA(EB)
Finance income 1 5 1 - - - - 7  BBEA
Finance charge (4) (2) (2) (1) 1 (4) - (12) #%x®
Share of after-tax results of jointly

controlled companies = = = 104 259 = 57 420 REEAEABRRBAEE
Profit/(loss) before taxation 261 212 (44) 935 (572) (49) 57 800 REIAIEA/(EE)
Taxation (charge)/credit (33) (20) 2 (129) 129 13 (2) (40) FBiE(RH)/RER
Profit/(loss) for the year 228 192 (42) 806 (443) (36) 55 760 AREEF/(EE)
Depreciation and amortisation 156 126 26 59 (59) 26 - 334 IEREH
Provision for impairment of stock

and rotable spares 26 5 - 8 (8) - - 31 FERUTERAEHRELEE
Auditors' remuneration —

statutory audit fees 1 1 - - - - - 2 BHAME - EERHER
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4. Segment information (continued)

4. HRAH(E)

HAESL Inter-
BENRDRELERLR B
Adjustments Other  elimination/
to reflect the segments — unallocated
TAECO TEXL Group’s  subsidiary  adjustments
ERAL EFAH equity share  companies  SEZR
HAECO T =@ At100% HBURKR HttpE- HEH/ Total
BEIE A8 BEAS AESE EENER  HEAT  ASOEREE wit
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
Year ended 31st December HE-ZZ)\Ft+=A
2008 =+—-HLFE
External turnover 3,029 1,758 - 7424 (7,424) 26 - 4813 #ExEH
Inter-segment turnover 173 6 - 3 3) - (91 88 DEZEEXETE
Total turnover 3,202 1,764 - 1,427 (7,427) 26 (91) 4901 EFEEET
Operating profit/(loss) 466 576 (26) 943 (943) (44) 38 1,010 #HEF(ER)
Finance income 11 4 2 3 (3) 1 - 18 BEWA
Finance charge (2) (4) - (5) 5 (5) - (11) Bt#x
Share of after-tax results of jointly
controlled companies - - - 101 296 - 65 462 EEHEARBRHRERE
Profit/(loss) before taxation 475 576 (24) 1,042 (645) (48) 103 1,479  BRBADEFI/(EE)
Taxation (charge)/credit (55) (77) 1 (160) 160 4 (2) (129) HBEEH)EE
Profit/(loss) for the year 420 499 (23) 882 (485) (44) 101 1,350  RERF(EE)
Depreciation and amortisation 149 118 12 59 (59) 12 = 291 HER#EE
Provision for impairment of stock
and rotable spares 18 - - - - - - 18  HFERAEEHEMHRELER
Auditors’ remuneration —
statutory audit fees 1 1 - - - - - 2 RYMME-EERHEAR
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4. HRAH(E)

4. Segment information (continued)

. HAESP Inter-
EENERDRERESLT segment
Adjustments Other  elimination/
to reflect the  segments — unallocated
TAECO TEXL Group’s  subsidiary  adjustments
ERAE EFAH equity share  companies  SEZR
HAECO igTse =@hsg  At100% RLRM HHE- 8 Total
BRTRE AR BEAT GESE EEOER  MEAT RORAR @it
(in HK$ Million) (BHHET)
At 31st December —EZNF+-A=+—H
2009 BH
Total segment assets 3,963 2,388 1,073 2,238 (2,238) 411 (192) 7,643 HEEEHAE
Total segment assets include: NEEEBEEE
Additions to non-current assets EREEEL
(other than financial instruments, (&R IR - RIKER
retirement benefit assets EEREEMBEEE
and deferred tax assets) 426 199 167 157 (157) 2 - 794 BRIM)
Total segment liabilities 1,140 539 659 916 (916) 369 (187) 2,520 HEEREHAE
HAESL -
ERRERBMEEREAR segment
Adjustments Other  elimination/
to reflect the  segments — unallocated
TAECO TEXL Group's subsidiary  adjustments
BFIAE  BEPRAH equity share  companies  HEZR
HAECO magTse =@  At100% HELRBR HesmE-—  EH Total
BEIR A7 BBAT LESE SENER  MEAT KOESE @it
(in HK$ Million) (BHEET)
At 31st December —EEN\FE+ZA=t—H
2008 e
Total segment assets 3,691 2,384 932 2,423  (2,423) 391 (213) 7,185 ASEEE#HE
Total segment assets include: PEEERERE
Additions to non-current assets EREEEL
(other than financial instruments, (&R IR - RIKER
retirement benefit assets EEREEMBEEE
and deferred tax assets) 484 170 6 61 61) 209 - 869 BRIM)
Total segment liabilities 1,016 628 476 1,141 (1,141) 300 (199) 2,221 HEAEHE
Reportable segments' assets are reconciled to total assets as follows: BHREIREEEEELENHRMNT ¢
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EBT)
Total segment assets 7,643 7,185 PIEEELE
Unallocated: investment in jointly controlled companies 988 907 ROBHEZERARRE
Unallocated: intangible assets — goodwill 30 29 RAOBNEFEE-BE
Total assets 8,661 8,121 EEHE

The Group’s jointly controlled companies, except for SAESL, are held by HAECO and

TAECO.

Reportable segments’ liabilities are equal to total liabilities.

Turnover between segments are carried out at an arm’s length. The turnover from
external parties reported to the Board of Directors is measured in a manner consistent

with that in the income statement.

BRAIEMERBREERBARN  RENKELTH
BRIBREMAGTREIRARES -

EHREDERERAEEERES -

PEZENEXABRBATRAGE - aEZRERMN
WS XBBRAER SR - B ANETE
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4. Segment information (continued)

HAESL has been determined as a segment, although it is a jointly controlled company.
The Board of Directors reviews the full income statement and net assets of this entity
as part of its performance review and resource allocation decisions. Full information on
turnover, profit, assets and liabilities has been included in the above, although these
amounts do not appear in the Group's income statement and statement of financial
position on a line by line basis. Adjustments are also presented in the above to reflect
the Group's equity share of HAESL in the income statement and statement of financial
position.

4. SERH(E)
ERMZBRBRECREQIAER —RHEQF  BER
BER—2R EZREHNZERZANKSERREEF
B FREXEARRRERIRARN -2 - BEEH
EEAHE BN BEREENBERAZ -RIEEE
HERREBRERT  BERFAEREEEN LR
o ERTFEZFHBRAE - URREBERSERKHM
BN RPREBMZE R BB RE D B HHER -

2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EBTT)
The Group's turnover derived from external customers: SERBHIIEFHE LT
In Hong Kong 1,957 2,285 B
From other countries 2,088 2,616 BEMEX
4,045 4,901
Total non-current assets other than financial instruments, BRemIE  EENEEEREREANEENIERE
deferred tax assets and retirement benefit assets: BERE:
In Hong Kong 2,594 2,364 B
In other countries (mainly in Mainland China) 2,892 2,704 BEMER (FEAHERH)
5,486 5,068
Turnover in HAECO and TAECO derived from BRIREEMALTREIZARKRBEE—HIEFMN
a single external customer 1,891 2,069 St

5. Staff remuneration and benefits

Total staff remuneration and benefits including pension scheme contributions, salaries,
allowances, benefits in kind and staff benefit administration costs for 2009 amounted
to HK$1,980 million (2008: HK$1,965 million). Of the five highest paid employees,
three (2008: four) were Directors and two (2008: one) were Executive Officers.
Remuneration details are given in note 6.
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6. EFERTEAEHS
ENEEESHEBH AT AANCEENESTLA) -
EREEFRASRESHAANA(CEENES=A) -

6. Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration
Total number of Directors who served during the year was sixteen (2008:
seventeen) and total number of Executive Officers who served during the year

was four (2008: three). Their remuneration was as follows: HBfSmT :
Group &£E
Cash B& Non Cash k#E&
Basic salary/ Allowances,  Retirement  Bonus paidto  Housing
Directors' gratuities, and ~ schemes  retirement & other Total
fees? benefits  contributions  benefits benefits @t
BEXFHS/ Bonust EE: - BiE RIEHE tARMKEE EER TR
FEBWE E4Ib k&R R HITEAL HitgF 2009 2008
(in HK$ Thousand) (B TF )
Executive Directors: EBESE:
Christopher Pratt 529 - 26 673 - 315 1,543 1,729 R4 E
Chan Ping Kit 3,666 3,993 1,140 12 - 4598 13,409 11,205 PR AR
Augustus Tang 2,844 478 632 - - 425 4379 833  HEH
Charles Bremridge (to st April 2009) 375 988 145 474 753 504 3,239 6,448 EREE (F-ssAfmA-A)
J Robert Gibson (to 6th March 2007) - - - - - = = 235  RME (F=EELE=AAA)
Mark Hayman 1,859 1,108 898 - - 16 3,881 3953 EiEX
Michelle Low 1,680 975 570 - - 249 3,474 883 EIES
Ashokumar Sathianathan WEAE
(to 31st January 2009) 254 984 485 1 - 2 1,726 3,246 (E=EZEN%—F=1—H)
11,207 8,526 3,896 1,160 753 6,109 31,651 30,532
Non-Executive Directors: FEBEE:
Martin Cubbon (to 73th May 2009) - - - - = = = - B (z=EEAfEA+=A)
Christopher Gibbs - = = = = = = - fERE
Davy Ho - - = = = - - - 7%
Peter Johansen 415 - - — = = 415 - REH
Merlin Swire (from 1st January 2009) — = = = = - = - R @-FEAE—F-A%)
Tony Tyler (to 30th September 2008) = = = = = = = -  BEB(FE-22/£4F=1A)
415 - = - = = 415 _
Independent Non-Executive
Directors: BIUFEHES:
Robert Adams 405 - - - - = 405 369 EBRE
Dinty Dickson Leach (to 6th May 2008) - - - - - = = 149  ZEE (Z=22/FHF/H)
Albert Lam 300 - - - - - 300 300  AMkF
Lincoln Leong 430 - - = = = 430 421 REE
David Tong 300 - = = - = 300 300 REFR
1,435 - = - = - 1,435 1539
20009 total 13,057 8,526 3,896 1,160 753 6,109 33,501 ZEThEEY
2008 total 12,943 8,755 6,151 884 963 2,375 32,071 —EENFHE
Executive Officers: THAR :
Summit Chan (from st February 2009) 1,166 - 400 - - 171 1,737 - RE #===hE=H—F1)
John Chi 1,815 933 385 8 - 1,223 4,364 5321 BR#&
Patrick Healy 1,380 386 705 1,755 290 2,554 7,070 1,786 BB
Merlin Swire (to 30th June 2008) - 313 - - - - 313 1,670 iEtkie (F=EENEAA=1A)
Kenny Tang (from 7th September 2009) 597 - 223 = - = 820 - YER W_EEAEAFLAR)
4,958 1,632 1,713 1,763 290 3,948 14,304 3777
2009 total 4,958 1,632 1,713 1,763 290 3,948 14,304 ZEBHhFEEN
2008 total 2,792 1,253 1,258 434 327 2,713 8,771 —ZEBENFH:
Notes: HiEt -

a. Annual Directors’ fees are determined by the Board and for 2009 comprised Director’s fee of
HK$300,000 (2008: HK$300,000), fee for members serving on Audit Committee of HK$75,000
(2008: HK$75,000) and fee for members serving on Remuneration Committee of HK$30,000
(2008: HK$30,000) respectively. The fee for Chairman of Audit Committee is HK$ 100,000 (2008:
HK$100,000) and fee for Chairman of Remuneration Committee is HK$40,000 (2008: HK$40,000).

a. BFHNEFHELHEZFRAT —EENFEHREFHTEE=
1B (CEENFRBE=1EBr) HAEERESE/KSHEE
MLtELFT (CEE/\FHBMELERZTT) REATHESE
HENE B =B (—EE\FHEL=E1) BRESEFE
MeBM 1B (—EENFEREEET) FHWESETEHE
b. Bonuses paid to the Executive Directors and Executive Officers are based on previous years’ results. BEOBL (~FENFEHERNET)

b. 1 FEBEERITEABHEALIRE L FEHFEMNE
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BB W&
7. Other net gains 7. Rt 2B 8
Group &£H
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHET)
Net foreign exchange gains 40 58 SNE W25 R AR
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments:
Forward foreign exchange contracts not qualifying ITEEMIAAFESR !
for hedge accounting - (4) THEHHEFTNERIESLH
Profit on sale of jointly controlled companies - 38 HE RN REA
40 92
8. Net finance (charge)/income 8. MB(ZH)WARE
Group &£H
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHET)
Finance income: BIFEUWRA
Short-term deposits and bank balances 7 18 BEERRRITHEER
Finance charge: gy Sl
Bank loans (12) (1) RITEN
(5) 7
9. Taxation 9. R\
Group &H
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥HETT)
Current taxation: REIBLIE
Hong Kong profits tax (8) 53 BBAER
Overseas taxation 9 86 I
1 139
Deferred taxation (note 18): RIETRIE (FTEE18)
Increase in deferred tax assets - (24) EAEBIEE EE M
Increase in deferred tax liabilities 39 14 EEBIE A FIE M
40 129

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) on the estimated EBASRIDUREEN AT ERPENEZBETI 2+
assessable profits for the year. Overseas tax is calculated at tax rates applicable ARAGE(CEENERAD 2 T3E) BIBRIUE
in jurisdictions in which the Group is assessable for tax. BEESHAGERER  REHEARNE -

The Group's share of jointly controlled companies’ tax charge of HK$70 million FERGHEARREILBRLTELT CESNERE

(2008: HK$83 million) is included in the share of after-tax results of jointly BNAT=88n) BEEREGRERERFMTNELGLEZEA
controlled companies shown in the consolidated income statement. RRBIAREEZA ©
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9. Taxation (continued)

The tax charge on the Group's profit before taxation differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company as
follows:

9. R|(E)
REERHAENFENHEXHERAEARLEINE
BRER R ENERRBNERNT:

Group &£
2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (B¥EBTT)
Profit before taxation 800 1,479 BREL AR R
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) 132 244 EREZAD 2T ABAGE(CEENERES 2T 8H)
Share of after-tax results of jointly controlled

companies (69) (76) R EA TR EES
Effect of different tax rates in other countries (9) 8 HttB R TR ENTE
Income not subject to tax (9) (24) BARB A
Unused tax losses not recognised 10 7 REERHI AR ABIEEE
Over-provisions in prior years - (2) [ R RR A
Effect of changes in tax rates (17) (20) MERENTE
Others 2 (8) Hity
Total charge 40 129 XA

10. Profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders
Of the profit attributable to the Company's shareholders, HK$648 million (2008:
HK$550 million) is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

10. 2 F B R EE {4 i@ %)
DERREGERT - BEASBOTN\BERT (Z2ENF
ABERRATER) B ER QM BRERA -

11. Dividends 11. &R
Company 2 7]
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHEIT)
Interim dividend, paid on 22nd September 2009, ERZZEZNFAA+TZRIRENHTHKRE
of HK$0.50 per share (2008: HK$0.93 per share) 83 155 FRBEE050T (ZEENFEAERAER0.937T)
Final dividend, proposed, of HK$1.50 per share BIRRBRESRAER1.507T
(2008 actual dividend paid: HK$2.25 per share) 249 374 (CEENFERRKESRBEE2.257T)
332 529

The proposed final dividend is not accounted for until it has been approved at the
Annual General Meeting. The actual amount will be accounted for as an appropriation
of the revenue reserve in the year ending 31st December 2010.

12.Earnings per share (basic and diluted)

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the
Company's shareholders of HK$688 million (2008: HK$1,138 million) by the
weighted average number of 166,324,850 ordinary shares in issue during the year
(2008: 166,324,850).

BRABREANRRBEAS LBBRBTAR - B
BEREABE-E-—EF T A=t - ALFERER>
BEHDIKRK

12. 5RBF(EFRHEE)
BREFNDELAIRRELGZANBESBENTNAEER
(CEENEABE+-—RB=TN\BHER) BUEARE
RITHMETHIRMDEE 166,324,850 (ZEENEAH
166,324,850/%) LERETE -
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13. Property, plant and equipment, leasehold land and

13.9% RERME HRALHMRE LM

land use rights and intangible assets FERAERELRE
Group &£E
Intangible
Propert%t)%;la‘n%ﬁgdﬁgépment ci)sr;eptjt;r
software,
Vehicles, goodwill and
Buildings  Plant,  equipment Leasehold ™ technical
and machinery and Assets land and licences
building  andtools  furniture  Rotable under land use  mpEE —
facilities BE - SEE spares  construction rights BRI -
BFER R R g BEHH Total HETHR BER
BFRIE kTA RARMA BEs BE st TR RS ETRE
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EEBTT)
Cost ER
At 1st January 2008 3,388 993 195 255 408 5,239 284 10 —EENF—F—H#&ZE
Translation differences (8) (3) - — (2) (13) (2) (1) EXZESE
Acquisition of a subsidiary
company 234 118 1 - - 353 81 537 BA-ZMEBARAE
Additions and transfers 326 299 30 16 170 841 20 8 WERER
Disposals (5) (21 (12) 9) - (47) - - HE
At 31st December 2008 3,935 1,386 214 262 576 6,373 383 554 —EBENF+-A=1+—-H#&H
Translation differences 1 - - - - 1 1 - ERER
Additions and transfers 854 186 (6) 3 (250) 787 - 7 EERER
Disposals (3) (27) (12) (15) - (57) - - HE
At 31st December 2009 4,787 1,545 196 250 326 7,104 384 561 —EZAF+_RA=+—H&EH
Accumulated
depreciation,
amortisation and
impairment RENE MBREE
At 1st January 2008 1,014 620 167 41 - 1,842 46 8 “ETN\E—-F—H&E
Translation differences (3) (2) (1) - - (6) - - EREH
Acquisition of a subsidiary
company 27 46 - - - 73 4 - BA-ZWBAH
Depreciation and
amortisation charge for
the year 145 108 9 21 - 283 7 1 AEEHRERBHZE
Impairment charge for the
year - - - 14 - 14 = - FEEREXH
Disposals - (16) (12) (2) - (30) - - k&
At 31st December 2008 1,183 756 163 74 - 2176 57 9 ZEEN\F+ZHA=+—H#EE
Depreciation and
amortisation charge/
(transfer) for the year 164 143 (3) 19 - 323 10 1 RNEERERSHES H/(EE)
Impairment charge for the
year - - - 24 - 24 - - AFEEREXH
Disposals (1) (22) (11) (3) = (37) - - HE
At 31st December 2009 1,346 877 149 114 - 2,486 67 10 —EShE+-BA=+—H&H
Net book value IR S {E
At 31st December 2009 3,441 668 47 136 326 4,618 317 551 —ZZhAF+_RA=+—HEH
At 31st December 2008 2,752 630 51 188 576 4,197 326 545 ZEBENF+ZA=+-—HKE
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13. Property, plant and equipment, leasehold land and

13.0% BRERRM HAEIHR LM

land use rights and intangible assets (continued) FERERERRE(E)
Company 28]
Property, plant and equipment
W% BERRE
Vehicles,
Buildings Plant,  equipment Intangible
and machinery and Assets assets —
building  and tools  furniture  Rotable under computer
facilities BB T spares  construction Leasehold  software
BFER Hss B afs mgEew  Total land W ERE —
FRIE kRIA RERM BEt BE 1t HELTH BB
(in HK$ Million) (BHBET)
Cost RE
At 1st January 2008 2,167 487 151 255 115 3,175 21 10 =ZENF-F-HBKE
Additions and transfers 15 56 17 16 380 484 - - RERER
Disposals (5) 4) 9 ) - (27) - - HE
At 31st December 2008 2,177 539 159 262 495 3,632 21 10 Z=EENFTZA=+—HEE
Additions and transfers 848 61 (12) 3 (474) 426 - - HEREER
Disposals - 9) (10) (15) = (34) = - HE
At 31st December 2009 3,025 591 137 250 21 4,024 21 10 —SSAF+-A=1+—H&EH
Accumulated
depreciation,
amortisation and
impairment REIE - BRRAE
At 1st January 2008 633 342 131 41 - 1,147 4 8 ZEE\¥-A-BHEE
Depreciation and
amortisation charge for
the year 77 40 9 21 = 147 1 1 AEERER#HERH
Impairment charge for the
year - - - 14 - 14 - - AEEREXH
Disposals - (4) 9) (2) - (15) - - HE
At 31st December 2008 710 378 131 74 - 1,293 5 9 ZEEN\F+ZA=t+-BEE
Depreciation and
amortisation charge/
(transfer) for the year 86 59 (10) 19 - 154 = 1 AREEREREBHETH/ER
Impairment charge for the
year - - - 24 = 24 - - AXEEREXT
Disposals = 7 9) 3) = (19) = - &
At 31st December 2009 796 430 112 114 - 1,452 5 10 —ZZAF+-A=+—H&EER
Net book value IRER{E
At 31st December 2009 2,229 161 25 136 21 2,572 16 - ZEBBAF+ZRA=+-—HEEH
At 31st December 2008 1,467 161 28 188 495 2,339 16 1 ZERN\FE+ZA=1t-R&H
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13. Property, plant and equipment, leasehold land and
land use rights and intangible assets (continued)

Assets under construction mainly relate to the construction of a sixth hangar by

TAECO and engine overhaul facilities by TEXL at Xiamen, Mainland China.

Of the leasehold land and land use rights of HK$317 million (2008: HK$326
million), HK$16 million (2008: HK$16 million) relates to the net book value of
leasehold land held in Hong Kong by the Company and HK$301 million (2008:
HK$310 million) relates to the net book value of land use rights held in Mainland
China by TAECO, TALSCO and TEXL. Both leasehold land and land use rights are
held on medium-term leases.

Of the intangible assets of HK$551 million (2008: HK$545 million), HK$517
million (2008: HK$511 million) relates to the carrying amount of technical
licences with a remaining amortisation period of 21 years (2008: 22 years).

Impairment test of goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating unit (“CGU") identified by
operating segment.

2009 2008

13.0% BER®MG HEHRELHRLH

ERERELEE(S)
ERPNEETERREMALREIRAAREMNAY
BHRRBLANPEABENMD B ERE EEKERS
ERBRIHE -

BEZE-TLEER (CEENEAZR-TAEER)
WK R L ERET B - TABET(CEEN
ERBE—TATER) HATREERENER T LEE
FEAR MEM=ET-EET (C22 \EREN=E
—FER) UREBEMALRETRAR  BFIALRE
BEERBATREFIALBDEBEATAHE R
B+t AREEFERE AR BR T bEREY
SR EEREE o

BEARET-—EER (CEENFAARENTIEER)
WEFEET BYERE-TLtEER(CEZN\ERBEY
IR—T-HER) EHNBRBHEFHA=+-F (ZF2N
FRZTF) BRI RN RE AR

MR EAR
BEDREEENEEIRIRERSELEN

(in HK$ Million)
TEXL 30 29

(B EET)
EFIAGEBRREHE LR

The recoverable amount attributable to this CGU is determined based on a value
in use calculation. This calculation uses the financial budget and plan covering a
period of ten years. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated at the same
level as in the tenth year. The discount rate used at 31st December 2009 was
5.6%. The discount rate is pre-tax and reflects the specific risks relating to the
CGU.

WEREELENNRETRESREREAEESEE
BE WHAERAAH T FHNHKERE R EET - &
WREEREANEFTRE+FHKFHER - —ZFAF+=
A=T-R&ERANERE[EDOZEHN - ZHRE
WBARMEGHIE - WRRREELEMSERR

14. Subsidiary companies 14. B 2 B
Company A&
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (BMBEET)
Unlisted shares at cost 738 738 FEMRRE

The principal subsidiary companies are shown on page 73.

A loan due from a subsidiary company of HK$11 million (2008: HK$12 million
included in trade and other receivables) is unsecured and interest free (2008:
unsecured and interest free). The loan terms have been revised to extend the
loan repayment from 2009 to 2012.
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15. Jointly controlled companies

Group &£

Company 2 7]

15. 227

2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B EET)
Unlisted shares at cost 183 130 135 92 FETRRE
Attributable post-acquisition
reserves 805 777 = = BABELRE
988 907 135 92
Dividends received and
receivable from jointly
controlled companies
during the year 392 381 376 362 FREWRERHEATRE

The principal jointly controlled companies are shown on page 73.

Included in trade and other receivables are loans due from a jointly controlled
company to the Group of HK$19 million (2008: Group: HK$3 million; Company:
HK$2 million) which are unsecured and carry interest at 3.6% per annum (2008:
Group: LIBOR plus 0.6% per annum; Company: LIBOR plus 0.6% per annum).
The loans are repayable at various dates in 2010.

The Group's share of the results, assets and liabilities of the jointly controlled
companies for the year ended and at 31st December are as follows:

FEHABRARIIRELT=H -

B RHEMER

RAEE-RH

ELRARETRENE

RER-—TNEER (CER/\EEEARE=F8T 2
ARBE_EBT) LEERF  HFEMNRREDZ=37
(CEEN\FEENFANEZARBRTERFEMAHEE
B ARANFNERDRABTEZFEMATEEE) - &

ERR=-Z-ZEFEHHEE -

SERGAEAREET A=t -BLFENESR &

ENRERENT :
HAESL
EBME BB Others Total
EEBBAT Hith st
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHET)
Turnover 3,166 3,342 329 360 3,495 3,702 et
Operating expenses (2,791) (2,918) (260) (283) (3,051) (3,201) &XEBx%
Operating profit 375 424 69 77 444 501 EERA
Net finance charge (1) = - (1) (1) (1) BBHFES
Share of after-tax results of jointly
controlled companies 47 45 - - 47 45  EHEEARRBEXEE
Profit before taxation 421 469 69 76 490 545  BRBIADEA
Taxation (58) (72) (12) (11) (70) (83) ®imE
Profit for the year 363 397 57 65 420 462  AFHF
Dividends paid 350 343 42 38 392 381 ENKRE
Net assets employed: A& :
Non-current assets 468 423 301 189 769 612 FRBEE
Current assets 628 761 174 164 802 925 RBEE
1,096 1,184 475 353 1,571 1,537
Current liabilities (313)  (484) (171) (117) (484) (601) RBAE
Non-current liabilities (99) (29) - - (99) (29) FRBEE
684 671 304 236 988 907
Financed by: BARR
Shareholders' equity 684 671 304 236 988 907 BRERAER
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16.Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line

16. BERNSMEmTIA
SRTASHBKEERANTSIER :

items below: Group £H Company 27

Loans and Loans and

receivables Derivatives Total receivables

B RIS PTEIA “st B EWFRIE

(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
At 31st December 2009 “EZAFET_RA=+—H&ER
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments - 17 17 - TEEMIA
Trade and other receivables 538 - 538 420 B 5 Rk HMEKRE

Loan to a subsidiary company = = =
Dividend receivable - - _

1 FT-RMBARER
44 FEWAR B

Bank balances and short-term deposits 983 - 983 393 RATHEBRERFR
Total 1,521 17 1,538 868 et
Other financial Other financial
Derivatives liabilities Total liabilities
fTEIR HipBtisaE wst Hipfgas
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
At 31st December 2009 “SENF+ZRA=+—-H&ER
Liabilities R
Derivative financial instruments 15 - 15 - fTEemIA
Trade and other payables - 989 989 605 B 5 REMEMNFRE
Borrowings - 1,126 1,126 200 B
Total 15 2,115 2,130 805 et
Loans and Loans and
receivables Derivatives Total receivables
ER R EWFIE PTHETA wst ERREWFIE
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
At 31st December 2008 —EENF+ZA=+—-HKE
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments = 58 58 = fTEemIA
Trade and other receivables 648 - 648 580 B REMEKIE
Dividend receivable = = = 88 FEUk Bz 2
Bank balances and short-term deposits 892 - 892 307 AT R EHER
Total 1,540 58 1,598 975 Mt
Other financial Other financial
Derivatives liabilities Total liabilities
$TEIR HiBiigasE wst Hingr i & &
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
At 31st December 2008 —EENF+ZA=+—H&KE
Liabilities afE
Derivative financial instruments 25 = 25 = fTESMIA
Trade and other payables - 1,112 1,112 693 B 5 REMENTE
Borrowings - 677 677 = CE
Total 25 1,789 1,814 693 st

Note: No derivatives are recognised at fair value through profit and loss (2008 assets of HK$2 million;
liabilities of HK$6 million).

The derivative financial instruments, the deposits and bank balances are placed
with banks which have credit ratings not lower than “A” in compliance with
the Company's financial risk management policy. The trade receivables are
transacted with those customers whose ratings, in the opinion of the Directors,
are reasonable and acceptable. Based on historical experience, the unrecoverable
rate is less than 0.5% of turnover.
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17. Retirement benefits

(a) Overall

Staff employed by the Company before 1st December 2000 were offered a
choice between Hong Kong's Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) and the
defined benefits retirement schemes as described below. Since 1st December
2000, all new staff employed, unless specially approved by the Company, have
been enrolled in the MPF scheme. This scheme requires both the Company and
staff to contribute 5% of the staff's relevant income (capped at HK$1,000 per
month).

The Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Local Staff Retirement Benefits
Scheme (“Local Scheme”) provides resignation and retirement benefits to its
members upon their cessation of service with the Company. The Company
meets the full cost of all benefits due by the Scheme to members, who are not
required to contribute to the Scheme.

Similarly, the Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Staff Retirement Benefits
Scheme (“Expatriate Scheme”) is for staff employed on expatriate terms. Both
members and the Company contribute to the Scheme.

TAECO's local staff are covered by a statutory scheme and a defined contribution
scheme in Mainland China. Local staff of other subsidiary companies operating
in Mainland China are covered by a statutory scheme. Local staff employed by
Singapore HAECO Pte. Limited and HAECO Bahrain Aircraft Services Company
Limited are covered by the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and the Social
Insurance Fund in Bahrain respectively.

The retirement benefit expense/(income) was recognised in the income

17. B HhiEF

(a) At
R-ZETE+_F-BAELAARANES  TEES
MEBHRHNELAES ([BEL]) FERTANRER
RERGTE - B=ZSZET-A—HE&  MEMABE
BRFEQTFAIME  FEIMARES TS - TG
2T ARAREEHENEEFBERANEY ZAMN (£
RABABY—Tx) -

ERRBIRERARINAMESRIABRE ([t
858l ) RHFBRSRBBRABRBRRARR - 2
AARRERBZEMEAN—TRANZHER - &K
SBRAG ZT B o

Bk ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ%lkﬁﬁﬁﬁjﬁaz_ﬁ%ﬂﬁ
EERE] ) DAKEBIMEBHRIE
RARIRE Zat BIEK o

( [
AENEEMR - ERE

ERALGREIZARNEES S HER G —EEE
R -BRAEEAHRERE - HtEFERLEED
MELQRANEtESZ AE BRE © Singapore HAECO
Pte. Limited & HAECO Bahrain Aircraft Services
Company Limited BRAKNEMES » 5 53 5 MK H R
AEEREMNLEREBESRE o

MEESFBRFE2HAA - RINGBRIBA /(WA ) R

statement as described in note 23 under principal accounting policies and was RAEIWT
as follows:
Group &£
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EET)
Local Scheme 57 (32) i fE S 52
Expatriate Scheme 3 (11) BIMEB
MPF, statutory and other defined contribution
schemes 60 54 BEE  AERAMAEE BRSNS
120 11
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17. Retirement benefits (continued)
(b) Defined benefits retirement schemes

The amount recognised in the consolidated income statement was as follows:

17. BHhiEF (8)
(b) REERMIER G2
REAREXRPRINBENT

Group &M
Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme Total
it fE ST E BIMEETTE “ct
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (B¥EETT)
Current service cost 82 101 4 5 86 106 RIS E A
Interest cost 93 76 6 4 99 80 ANEER
Expected return on plan assets (121)  (193) (9) (15) (130)  (208) GHEIEEFEHEIER
Net actuarial losses/(gains) 3 (16) 2 (5) 5 (21) BEEBE(kE)BE
Total 57 (32) 3 (11) 60 (43) Fbs)
Actual return on plan assets 581 (962) 48 (81) 629 (1,043) EEIBEMNERDR

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position was determined as

REBRRRPERNHBELT ¢

follows:
Group and Company &£ER 24 &
Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme Total
ifESEHE BIMEEETE Bt
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥HET)
At 31st December: TZA=t+—R#&E:
Fair value of plan assets 2,312 1,735 166 142 2,478 1,877 STEIEENATE
Present value of obligations (1,924) (1,790) (107) (115)  (2,031) (1,905) EEKWHRE
Net assets/(liabilities) 388 (55) 59 27 447 (28) EBEI(BE)FE
Net unrecognised actuarial (gains)/
losses (167) 212 (8) 27 (175) 239 RERRE (KR EBBFE
Retirement benefit assets
recognised in the statement
of financial position 221 157 51 54 272 211 RPBRRRPEZNRABNEE
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17. Retirement benefits (continued)
(b) Defined benefits retirement schemes (continued)

Movement in the retirement benefit assets recognised in the statement of

financial position:

17. BHa@E# (&)
(b) RERMKBREE ()
RBBRRRPERNERNBEINEERD

Group and Company &£ER A F

Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme Total
A fE S5+ E BIMEEETE @st
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EEBT)
Assets at 1st January 157 125 54 43 211 168 —A—B&EEE
Increase due to: EMERER
Total expense — as shown above  (57) 32 (3) 11 (60) 43 B — Mm%l
Contributions paid 121 - - - 121 = EIEE
Assets at 31st December 221 157 51 54 272 211 T-RA=t—-RHEEEE

HK$67 million of the contributions paid represent supplementary lump-sum

funding contributions.

Principal actuarial assumptions for the year:

ENHRET  BRATLEBTA—FRBHNER
it

ko
FEETBRERR

Group and Company EER A A

Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme

AifE S5+ E BIMES TR
2009 2008 2009 2008
Discount rate 4.75% 5.30% 4.75% 530%  BHB=
Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 7.00% 8.00% 7.00%  FEHFEEERERE
Expected rate of future salary increases 4.00% 3.61% 4.00% 3.01%  FEERFIEH=E

The expected return on plan assets reflects the portfolio mix of assets, which
itself is determined by the Group's current investment policy. Expected returns
on equities and bonds reflect long-term real rates of return in the respective

markets.

FHEERHMOERREEASKRR  MEEASRAR
BRONREPRET - BEERESNARERRRE(E
TmSHRMBEEERE -
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17. Retirement benefits (continued)
(b) Defined benefits retirement schemes (continued)
The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

17. B4 mF (E)
(b) RERMEFGHE (&)
AEEHHEEATESBOT :

Group and Company &£ER A H

Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme Total
At fE S 58 BIMESEHE #st
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
At 1st January 1,735 2,808 142 231 1,877 3,039 —B—B&E
Employer contributions 121 - - - 121 - EEHR
Employee contributions — - 2 3 2 3 EEHX
Expected return on plan assets 121 193 9 15 130 208  HESEFEHER
Benefits paid (125)  (111) (26) (11) (151)  (122) EfER
Actuarial gains/(losses) 460 (1,155) 39 (96) 499 (1,251) REKE/I(EB)
At 31st December 2,312 1,735 166 142 2,478 1,877 +t-A=1+—H#&E

The movement in the present value of defined benefit obligation of the year is as
follows:

AEERERNEANREZHNT :

Group and Company @K 2 &

Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme Total
A fE S5+ E BIMEEETE @st
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (BMBET)
At 1st January 1,790 2,202 115 131 1,905 2,333 —A—B#&H
Current service cost 82 101 6 8 88 109 AHARR S & A
Interest cost 93 76 6 4 99 80 ANEEA
Actual benefits paid (125)  (111) (26) (11) (151)  (122) EBRE[EF
Actuarial losses/(gains) 84 (478) 6 (17) 90 (495) RBEEB/(KH)
At 31st December 1,924 1,790 107 115 2,031 1,905 TZA=t—RH#&H

The major categories of plan assets are as follows:

AEEENRTZERMT

Group and Company SEERAF]

Local Scheme Expatriate Scheme
A fE S 5HE BIMESFTE
2009 2009 2008 2008 2009 2009 2008 2008

(in HK$ Million) (B¥EET)
Equities 1,678 73% 1,157 67% 115 69% 95 67% &
Bonds 634 27% 560 32% 51 31% 45 32% &%
Cash and others - - 18 1% - - 2 1% BReREM
Total 2,312 100% 1,735 100% 166 100% 142 100% gt

Allowing for current market condition, a range of potential returns may be
expected for the Schemes' invested assets. Based on the Schemes’ benchmark
asset allocation of 70% in equities and 30% in bonds and cash, and allowing for
administration fees and other expense charged to the Schemes, the Company has
decided to adopt a long-term return of 8.0% per annum.

Expected employer contributions for the year ending 31st December 2010 are
HK$50 million for Local Scheme and nil for Expatriate Scheme.
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17. Retirement benefits (continued)

(b) Defined benefits retirement schemes (continued)
Other disclosures are as follows:

17. BHhiE# (&)
(b) RERMBAGE (&)
HigEERMT :

Group and Company &ER A &

Total #5t

2009 2008 2007

2006 2005

(in HK$ Million)

(B¥EET)

Fair value of plan assets 2,478 1,877 3,039 2,676 2,315 HEEELAYE

Present value of obligations (2,031) (1,905  (2,334) (2,155  (2,052) EEHRE
Surplus/(deficit) 447 (28) 705 521 263  R&H(EE)

Experience (losses)/gains on scheme liabilities (26) 11 (11) 87  NoteffzF sHEIEEBE(ERE) W&
Experience gains/(losses) on scheme assets 499 (1,251) 288 276 76  FFEIEEBIUR/(EE)

Note: This information is not reported as it is not readlly available and is not required by the Accounting
Standards,

18. Deferred taxation
The movements on deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year,
without taking into consideration the offsetting balances within the same tax

WE: BRRSHEEY  BRFENUMELEL Al
FFH#E o

18. BEER I
FRELEFEHEEREBEERKHER —BRHAEEE
ERERERNEENT

jurisdiction, are as follows: Group S
Provisions %
(in HK$ Million) (B EET)
Deferred tax assets RERERE
At 1st January 2008 8 —EENF-A-BEE
Credited to income statement 24 N6 bR
At 31st December 2008 32 “EENFT-A=T+—HEE
Credited to other comprehensive income 7 AEM 2 WS PR AR
At 31st December 2009 39 —ETAFTZA=t+—H&EHR
Group &
Accelerated Retirement
tax benefit

depreciation assets Others Total

DR EITEE RIBFEE Hit @st
(in HK$ Million) (B EET)
Deferred tax liabilities REREFEAR
At 1st January 2008 217 10 (1) 226 —EBENF-A—H#H
Acquisition of a subsidiary company - - 37 37 BA-ZKEAH
Charged to income statement 2 - 12 14  RBERPXE
Credited to other comprehensive

income - - (5) (5) REMZERETCE

At 31st December 2008 219 10 43 272 —EBE\F+-A=+—-RH#&E
Charged to income statement 30 - 9 39 RERPXE
At 31st December 2009 249 10 52 311 —EZAF+_A=+—H&H
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18. Deferred taxation (continued)

18. RERE(4E)

Company A&
Accelerated Retirement
tax benefit

depreciation assets Others Total

IEEFIEITE EBRBENEE Hith #ct
(in HK$ Million) (BEBEET)
Deferred tax liabilities RERTARR
At 1st January 2008 217 10 (14) 213 =—BEN\F-—H—RA#E
Charged to income statement 2 - - 2 RBERPIE
At 31st December 2008 219 10 (14) 215 ZEEN\F+-A=+—H#E
Charged to income statement 30 - 11 41 Rl
At 31st December 2009 249 10 (3) 256 —EETAE+_A=+—H#&EH

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method. The tax rate used in respect of Hong Kong deferred tax is 16.5% (2008:
16.5%). Overseas deferred tax is calculated using tax rates prevailing in the

respective jurisdictions.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent
that realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable profits is
probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$96 million (2008:
HK$47 million) to carry forward against future taxable income. Tax losses of
HK$23 million will expire in 2013, HK$46 million will expire in 2014 and HK$27
million have no expiry date (2008: HK$24 million in 2013; HK$2 million in 2028;

HK$21 million no expiry date).

The following amounts are shown separately on the statement of financial

EERANRAAMERERER2HHE - THABE
EHERANHEATAZTAKE (SSNFRES
ZHAME) SMEERANES AL EREARAN
B -

ARANBEABENELHREE - REEARTEFE
RAETEEBRRERBERNBRE S SRR - KEHE
BATABEELINARBRADEEE (CEENFRBBDT
tHEL)TABRERRERBLLA - B -T=0Ex
NHEEESR-Z—=F2  BEOTABETHH
BERAR-Z-—NFHH MBS -FTLtEETHHE
BRAEIMHA(CEENFABE - TRNEEIR - —
=FHE BE_EERR RS N\FHY BE =T
BETEZHA)-

position. Group %M UTBERTHEMRRERBITES
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B EETT)
Deferred tax assets: EERBEE :
To be recovered after more than 12 months 38 26 R+ =@ A ZKE
To be recovered within 12 months 1 6 AT =18 A i E
39 32
Group &
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BHET)
Deferred tax liabilities: EEBEERE
To be settled after more than 12 months 299 249 ERT=EAREE
To be settled within 12 months 12 23 ERT=EAREE
311 272
Company A8
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥BEET)
Deferred tax liabilities: EERBEE
To be settled after more than 12 months 247 201 ERT=EAREE
To be settled within 12 months 9 14 ERT=EAREE
256 215
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19.Derivative financial instruments

19. T EeMIA

Group &=
Assets BE Liabilities &f&
2009 2008 2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (BEEET)
Forward foreign exchange contracts: EHMESH

Cash flow hedges 17 56 15 19 Behay

Not qualifying for hedge accounting = 2 = 6 RIS
Total 17 58 15 25 5t
Less non-current portion RIEREE D
Forward foreign exchange contracts: EHMESH

Cash flow hedges 4 9 - 18 RERBE T
Current portion 13 49 15 B D

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or
liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months
and, as a current asset or liability, if the maturity of the hedged item is not more
than 12 months.

Forward foreign exchange contracts
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange
contracts at 31st December 2009 were HK$726 million (2008: HK$1,363
million).

The hedged highly probable forecast transactions denominated in foreign
currency are expected to occur at various dates during the next 36 months.
Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity (note
26) on forward foreign exchange contracts as of 31st December 2009 are
recognised in the income statement in the period or periods during which the
hedged forecast transaction affects the consolidated income statement. This
is generally within 3 years from the reporting date unless the gain or loss is
included in the initial amount recognised for the purchase of fixed assets, in
which case recognition is over the lifetime of the assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of
the derivative assets in the statement of financial position.

20. Financial guarantees

The Company has guaranteed the drawn components of bank loans of a
subsidiary company. Under the terms of the financial guarantee contracts,
the Company will make payments to reimburse the lenders upon failure of the
guaranteed entity to make payments when due.

The liabilities guaranteed will mature at various dates from 2010 to 2012. Their
face values are as follows:

Company A8

2009 2008

MEEFIRE R GHRER+=EA  HHTETAN
2HATEERSEAFABEERAE | WRHITEE
NARDIRT=EA - HHFITETANZHAPEIRD
BRRBEERAE -

BEHHNESK
RIBEAF+ZAZ+—H  HRBITEHMNESH
NESEASRREBLE=T BB (CETN\EAH
BET=RAT=ZEER)-

LAOMNEESHEW SR MEE A Re B ENRMR S - BHER
ARE=1~EAAEFEN AHET - R=Z2BAF+
ZR=1+—-RH BREHSESHNEZHRSREH T
REEINNERER (E26) R(E) BB RER
FHER - EZ(H)HE  RETNEBRZHEEKE
RENFE B RAGEBE=ER  BFEREIE
REBRERIABREEEEENATBER  HLER
T - BREENS R -

REFENREERARRTERERSIBRREAN L
T

20. M HiE R
ARAEA-—ZMBRRANCBHRRTERRERER - RiE
BHERGONER  HIERNEREIHEREER
o DERAELRENERN -

RERNEERR-Z-—2FX
o HEEWMT :

“E-—EHTEBHE

(in HK$ Million)

Bank loans of a subsidiary company 448 316

(B¥EET)
—ZXMBRRANRITER
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21. Stocks and work in progress
Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost, calculated on a
weighted average basis, and net realisable value.

21. FRREARIE
FERATIREUMEFHEEFTNRARILERF
EWE T HBREE AR

Group &M Company 28]
2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
Carrying amounts at
net realisable value: LURT 3R #E G E R IREE
Stocks 192 91 154 63 Ay

The remaining balances are carried at cost.

22.Trade and other receivables

The credit terms given to customers vary and are generally based on their
individual financial strength. Credit evaluations of trade receivables are
performed periodically to minimise credit risk associated with receivables.

BRT AR ERRILUR AR AR

2. RHRAMERRE
BRTEFNEERGTEER - —RIIREEER 88 E
BENTE - REEARE S BWFEETEEME » LA
EEMERKRRERNEERR -

Group &8 Company A8
2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
Trade receivables — B S EWHIE —
in HK dollars 97 102 97 102 BT
in US dollars 204 209 131 99 ESH
in other currencies 29 12 - - HitE
330 323 228 201
Less: provision for impairment of
receivables (2) (20) (2) (19) B EWFREREEE
328 303 226 182
Amounts due from subsidiary
companies - - 78 1M1 ERHEARRE
Amounts due from jointly controlled
companies 33 15 10 9 RUHEATRE
Amounts due from related parties 49 152 22 136 FEWEBEEALKE
Other receivables and prepayments 126 158 82 123 HitpEWFUERENRE
536 628 418 561

The fair values of trade receivables and other receivables are not materially
different from their book values. The amounts due from subsidiary companies,
jointly controlled companies and related parties are unsecured, interest free and
on normal trade credit terms.

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

BZRWFER A BEYRENAFERARABELES
K2R - BAR > HEQVAREBEA T REERER
BHER ZERREREZEEHESR -

WEE S RKFANREDTAT

Group &8 Company A&

2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
Current 177 137 116 83  HNHE
Up to 3 months overdue 78 105 50 39 @HFEE=EA
3 to 6 months overdue 5 3 1 2 BAHM=FXEA
Over 6 months overdue 70 78 61 77 AEEBsEA

330 323 228 201
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22.Trade and other receivables (continued)

The above ageing analysis includes the receivables due from OASIS Hong Kong
Airlines Limited arising from various services performed by the Group. OASIS
Hong Kong Airlines Limited and OASIS Growth and Income Investments Limited
entered into liquidation on 11th June 2008. In accordance to a consent summons
filed jointly together with the Provisional Liquidator, which was granted by the
court in early May 2008, an amount of HK$78 million from the net proceeds
of aircraft sales had been deposited into a separate bank account pending
determination of the Group's claim by the court.

At 31st December 2009, trade receivables of the Group of HK$2 million (2008:
HK$20 million) and of the Company of HK$2 million (2008: HK$19 million) were
considered impaired and provided for. The impaired trade receivables relate to
customers which are in unexpectedly difficult financial situations. The ageing of
these receivables is as follows:

Group 5%H Company A&

2. HARAMEKHRE(E)
LRERANMEEHREEMEERD AR EE MM
MABRRBEMAREENERAE HREBEMEBRA
A K& Oasis Growth and Income Investments Limited
R-ZBENFRAT-—RETER - ERER-ZTNEF
ERAVETRENRER  SECHKBRERARLBKE
RHEE REENBESR  HERBAESREZEF
—EREBELTNEEINNECSERN —EBLNRIT
FO¥ BEEZERHBSENEERRELIERAL -

REZZEAFE+ZA=+—-0  SERKRERELSHEE
ENEZRERERBE BB (CEENFRBE-T
Bin) MARRELEFERNEZREFRAIAEE=
BEL (CZENFRABE-—THhEER) BENEZE
KRIBES R BB HTBRENEF - LERUKE
HERERINT

2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EBTT)
Up to 3 months overdue 2 - 2 - SHTHRB=MEA
3 to 6 months overdue - - - - BH=ZAEA
Over 6 months overdue - 20 - 19 ‘AHEBAEA
2 20 2 19

Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are as
follows:

Group &8 Company 28]

SEHE S BUHEREREERNZTHNT :

2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B EETT)
At 1st January 20 22 19 19 —B—R&E
Provision for impairment of receivables 2 1 2 - RREEREER
Utilised during the year (20) - (19) - ERER
Unused amounts reversed - 3) - -  KRABEERD
At 31st December 2 20 2 19 +=B=t+—-H&#

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been
included in cost of direct material and job expenses in the income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there
is no expectation of recovering additional settlement.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value
of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

FEWREREEENELERD B ARSEROEEN
FERARITERAXEAT - REATEREEMER B
BRAGERE OB - RS M o

REFENERSEFERRA LRZERBEBRENAT
B - REYESBEMRARERLTY -

EBERBIBRERDLA 65



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
iR B MR

23.Trade and other payables
Group &8

Company 28]

23. W7 B A i B 1 % R/

2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (BEEET)
Trade payables 77 133 32 14 EZEAREA
Amounts due to subsidiary
companies - - 34 4 EANBRRRE
Amounts due to jointly
controlled companies 2 - 2 -  BEAHEAFFE
Amount due to related parties 21 26 10 24 BENEBEALFE
Other payables and accruals 889 953 527 651  HtEAFUERETERE
989 1,112 605 693
The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows: ESRARIANREDMAT ¢
Group &8 Company A8
2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
Current 70 124 30 6 B
Up to 3 months overdue 7 9 2 8 BHTBB=A
77 133 32 14

The fair values of trade payables and other payables are not materially different
from their book values. The amounts due to subsidiary companies, jointly
controlled companies and related parties are unsecured, interest free and on

normal trade credit terms.

ESRNRAREMESRENA PERARAETERE
KDB - BRWBAR - HEAARAEEATHRIES
RERR RERRERESEEMERE -

24.Borrowings 24. #®
Refer to pages 15 to 16 for details of the Group's borrowings. BEREEERNZE  #2HETHEE T E -
25. Share capital 25. &
Company AF]
2009 2008
Number of Number of
shares In HK$ Million shares In HK$ Million

BRABE BEEET BRHBAE BEEET
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each SREESE1.00TEER
At 31st December 210,000,000 210 210,000,000 210 +T=A=t+—-H#&E
Issued and fully paid: BRTRARRA
Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each SREESE1.00TEER
At 31st December 166,324,850 166 166,324,850 166 +=RA=+—B#&%

During the year, no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's shares
has been effected on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange by the Company or its

subsidiary companies.
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26. Reserves

26. G fl

Capital redemption ~ Exchange translation Cash flow
Revenue reserve reserve reserve hedge reserve Total
] BABELEE ] RSB mat
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B EETT)
Group £5
At 1st January 4,749 4,132 19 19 10 11 17 81 4,795 4243 —-RB—H&ZEH
Profit for the year 688 1,138 - - - - - - 688 1,138 | A&EHA
Other comprehensive income Hin2HEWE
Cash flow hedges RERSEH
— recognised during the year - = - = - = 6 (39 6 (39 - FRAEHER
— deferred tax recognised - = - = - - 4 3 4 3 - BRAELEHE
— transferred to other net gains - = = = = = (26) (290 (26) (29 - ERTHMbKE
Exchange translation differences B
on foreign operations - - - - 1 (1) = - 1 (1) BHEBERZSE
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year 688 1,138 - - 1 (1 (16) (64) 673 1,073 AFEZ2HEWZ/(FE)LAE
Previous year's final dividend paid ~ (374) (366) - - - - - - (374) (366) B LFERERE
Current year's interim dividend paid ~ (83) (155) - - - - - - (83) (155) ENEFEFHRE
At 31st December 4,980 4,749 19 19 11 10 1 17 5011 4,795 +=A=+-RA&&
Company AL
At 1st January 3,320 3,291 19 19 = = = - 3,339 3310 —B—H#E
Total comprehensive income for
the year 648 550 - - - = - - 648 550 AFZEKZAR
Previous year's final dividend paid (374) (366) - - - - - - (374) (366) B LFERMKE
Current year's interim dividend paid ~ (83) (155) - - - - - - (83) (155) ENEFEHHRE
At 31st December 3,511 3,320 19 19 - - - - 3,530 3339 +t-A=t—-RH&HE

The Group and Company revenue reserves include HK$249 million (2008:
HK$374 million) representing the proposed final dividend for the year (note 11).

KERAANERBEEFLAFERRRBRE (HZE11)
BE_RNTAEBLT (2T /\FREB=RLTHE

B
27. Minority interests 27. VB RES
Group £
2009 2008

(in HK$ Million) (B HET)
At 1st January 939 485 —A—B&E
Share of profits for the year 72 212 AEEAEF
Share of cash flow hedge reserve (13) (50) EERERELE P EE
Share of exchange translation differences on

foreign operations - (3) FEARBINETSIE 250
Share of total comprehensive income for the year 59 159 AERGEEREETE
Minority interests in a new subsidiary company - 36 R—RHHER AN BRFER
Capital contribution from minority interests - 35 DERFEE
Dividends (paid and payable)/cancellation (34) 224 (BNRESKRE)/RETH
At 31st December 964 939 tTZRA=+—-H&E
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28. Receipt in advance

An advanced payment was received from Cathay Pacific Airways Limited in
2005 for storage services charges up to June 2018. At 31st December 2009,
the current portion included in other payables under current liabilities is HK$11
million (2008: HK$11 million) while the non-current portion is HK$79 million
(2008: HK$90 million).

29. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows
(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations

28. Ml RIA

BRHEDEAEMEERARA—SSAFERIMERES
“E-\FAANRERBENENMRE c —EEAF T
“RAEt-H&R  BEERBAFERT EMENTIEN
RBBIRBE-—T-AER(CEENFABR-—T-8
Br) MERDBIANABELThEBR(CZEZNES
BEATET)

29. GEBERBERME
(a) EXEFERBLENR THIE

Group &£E
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHETT)
Operating profit 385 1,010 =iyl
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment provision 358 305 e BERREES
Other net gains (4) (34) Az B a8
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 14 (6) HENE - BERREER/(EF)
Operating profit before working capital changes 753 1,275 EEGLLBAINE R
Increase in retirement benefit assets (61) (43) BIKEREELEM
Increase in stocks and work in progress (7) (32) BERAR=IREM
Decrease in trade and other receivables 96 33 g5 REMERRIERD
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 20 (29) 2 5 & H AR A FOEE A0/ A)
Decrease in receipt in advance (11) (11) BURFERLD
Cash generated from operations 790 1,193 RELENRS
(b) Analysis of deposits and bank balances at 31st December (b) T=ZA=+—HEENEFARRITELRDIN
Group &M
2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EBT)
Cash and cash equivalents 844 881 HeRBREEEY
Deposits maturing after three months 139 11 B=18 A FHNER
983 892

The Group's and Company's weighted average effective interest rates per annum
on these deposits at 31st December 2009 are 0.73% (2008: 0.91%) and 0.05%
(2008: 0.31%) respectively. These deposits have an average maturity of 59 days
(2008: 25 days) for the Group and 28 days (2008: 25 days) for the Company.
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30. Capital commitments

Group &£E

Company A

30. RE XK iR

2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥HET)
Contracted but not provided for in
the financial statements 201 459 12 407  EEINEREFBRRPIELER
Authorised by Directors but not
contracted for 1,182 1,786 124 121 BEE/MABRITN
1,383 2,245 136 528
The Group's share of capital commitments
of jointly controlled companies not
included above: LRTEEEREELEATNERRIENT
Contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements 149 136 BETREREMBRERPEER
Authorised by Directors but not
contracted for 80 138 BEBR/MABRITL

Capital commitments mainly relate to the construction of a sixth hangar by

TAECO and engine overhaul facilities by TEXL at Xiamen, Mainland China.

31. Lease commitments

At 31st December 2009, the future aggregate minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

AAFEIERBAIAS R IRADNBAAL BBH
RS ATREANLERN S BIRRE S BRER S EAHS
26 -

31. HR Rk iE
“EENETZAST-RAE  RAUHEEXEER
THRRRREEES HARMNT

Group &£E Company A 8]
2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EETT)
Land and buildings: T RiEF:
Not later than 1 year 106 99 105 98 —FR
Later than 1 year but not later
than 5 years 408 391 407 390 —ERERFER
Later than 5 years 2,362 2,340 2,362 2,340 LE%
2,876 2,830 2,874 2,828
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32.Business combinations

On 26th June 2008, the Company and TAECO acquired 75.01% and 10%
interests respectively in TEXL, a company that provides overhaul, maintenance
and test services for aircraft engines. The Group's effective shareholding is
80.67%. As part of the transaction the Group also entered into a Branded
Service Agreement for TEXL to acquire a GE-Branded Service Agreement with
the right to maintain GE90 engines for a period of 22 years. The Group's share
of total consideration for the acquisition of TEXL and the GE-Branded Service
Agreement was HK$636 million.

No revenue and a loss of HK$23 million were contributed to the Group for the
year from TEXL to 31st December 2008. If the acquisition had occurred on 1st
January 2008, the Group's consolidated turnover and consolidated profit for
the year would have been increased by HK$18 million and decreased by HK$11
million respectively.

(a) Details of goodwill and net assets acquired are given below.

32. KB &

ZEENFARAZTAB  AREEMALRETIELR
DRBARMALRBRRBELARAEIZ2ETERE K
BAZ TR  EMALRBRERELDRERKIIZEX
% BERURARE - RENERXRERED ZNTHA
t - FRARZN—H2  RETTLRERBHE R\
e BEFALZEIRRBLAMERB -t -F4&5
GEQOR SIS BHER - KEEMBAREP AL BB
AARBRERRERBHENBAERBESR=T
BET -

EIRRN\F+TZA=T AL ERIALHRBBREL
ARFALESEETREREG  TROBBEIRBE =T
ZHER AWBRTBR-ZENF-A—-REFT  AF
REBNGSEXRERGEENED B MBEE— TN
BELRBLBE—T—BET -

(a) BERFBEEFEFFLT:

(in HK$ Million) (BMEET)
The Group’s share of purchase consideration is as follows: SEELBERENT
Cash paid 227 R £
Deferred consideration 409 ELERE
636
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (606) ARRFMBEEFEATE
Goodwill 30 EES

The goodwill is attributable to TEXL's strong position and profitability in its market
and the significant synergies expected to arise after its acquisition by the Group.

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

BERRNEMALRBRRELAEHSRERERAK
BN - ARSHSERBREHREXNTHEXREM
-3

WEMEENEERABNT ¢

Acquiree’s
carrying amount Fair value
WURIEE HOBRE{E DNFE

(in HK$ Million) (B EET)

Cash and cash equivalents 21 21 RERRSLEEY

Land use rights 18 77 T ERRE

Property, plant and equipment 192 280 M BEKRRE

Payables (97) (97) S FE

Deferred tax liabilities - (37) EEFEAE
Net assets acquired 134 244 FriBEEFE
Intangible assets acquired 507 507 FrBELEE

641 751

Minority interests (145) P HBRRER
The Group's share of total net assets acquired 606 SEELRBEEFEAR
(b) Details of cash outflow on acquisition are as follows: (b) WREELENBESRHFRNT:
(in HK$ Million) (B¥EHET)
Outflow of cash to acquire TEXL, net of cash acquired: WEEMASRBREEARNRSRENKRAERS

The Group's share of cash consideration 2217 SEEGREERE

The minority's share of cash consideration 12 DEURREGERESRE
Total cash consideration 239 RERBERT
Cash and cash equivalents in TEXL 21) REMALRBEBRELINRERREEEY
Cash outflow on acquisition 218 WIBREENRER
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33. Related party and continuing connected transactions
The Group has a number of transactions with its related parties and connected
persons. Details of the remuneration of key management are set out in note 6.
All trading transactions are conducted in the normal course of business at prices
and on terms similar to those charged to/by and contracted with other third party
customers/suppliers of the Group. The aggregated transactions and balances
which are material to the Group and which have not been disclosed elsewhere in
the annual report are summarised below:

Jointly controlled

B.AHEATIRGENERH
EEEETAHEALRZRBAERS - RERETREE
ABBHNB S S - RIE6SIME - TEXZHYEERH
BREFTET  AERRREREREME=F%FF/HE
BT EZ /RN T AN ER RRAEE - KRENEARK
AEREHEMSHRENIZAEREHRBENT ¢

companies Other related parties Total
Note HEAF HitBRaEA = st
PitaE 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(in HK$ Million) (B BEET)
Revenue from provision of services: RERBABHWA
Cathay Pacific Airways Limited Group ~ a - = 1,891 2,069 1,891 2,069 BEEMEERADER
Other revenue 49 99 - - 49 99 Hitgg A
49 99 1,891 2,069 1,940 2,168
Purchases: BEHEA :
Costs payable to John Swire & Sons REERBHEL B LEE
(H.K.) Limited under services agreement BRARDZANER
— Service fees payable during the
year a 20 35 20 35 - FRENREE
— Expenses reimbursed at cost a 36 28 36 28 - BRARRER
Subtotal a 56 63 56 63 et
— Share of administrative services 4 3 4 3 - DRTBRS
Total 60 66 60 66 wet
Property insurance placed through
SPACIOM, a captive insurance B-FAAHRBERATR
company wholly owned by Swire ERENERERREDH
Pacific Limited 4 4 4 4 SPACIOMIR R 9 B 72 R B
Spares purchases from Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited 16 61 16 61 mERMZEATEEGE
Other purchases c 3 8 9 12 12 20 HinigBIEE
89 143 92 151
Notes: Hiaz -

a. These transactions fall under the definition of “continuing connected transactions” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules as detailed in note e. The other transactions are not connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which give rise to any disclosure or other obligations under Chapter
144 of the Listing Rules.

b. Other revenue from jointly controlled companies mainly came from the provision to HAESL of
engine component repairs and facilities rental on a commercial arm’s length basis and of certain
administrative services charged at cost.

¢. Purchases from jointly controlled companies comprised mainly aircraft component overhaul charges
by HAESL.

d. Amounts due from and due to jointly controlled companies and other related parties at 31st
December 2009 are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the accounts.

a WEXBFEALTRIETTAE [HEFEXS ] HEHE
B FIERfatesIit - Bt 5 IRE L HARRE T HAZLHE
FRENBITRMEFHEER S AT HEERS -

b. RERZER A RMYUAEERKE B EEMZERDEECIREL
ARR PEERAEEY 5| ZEHEERBRREEE - URER
PR EIR AR E TITRRE

c. HRENFEEBHRELBEOEEMZERBBHERE R
ITHIRBERFHEANECEST -

d R=FENF1-F=+—H RELAREMEELALE

BHHERRA LR T RE WA A TNZE - KIEEM228.23
B -
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
iR B MR

33. Related party and continuing connected transactions
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

e. Continuing connected transactions during 2009:

The Group had the following continuing connected transactions, details of which are set out below:
(a) Cathay Pacific Airways Limited (“CX”)

The Company entered into a framework agreement (“framework Agreement”) with CX on
21st May 2007 for the provision of services by the Company and its subsidiaries (“HAECO
Group”) to the aircraft fleets of CX and its subsidiaries (“CX Group”). The services comprise
line maintenance, base maintenance, comprehensive stores and logistics support, component
and avionics overhaul, material supply, engineering services and ancillary services at Hong Kong
International Airport, Xiamen or other airports. Payment is made in cash by CX Group to HAECO
Group within 30 days upon recejpt of the invoice. The term of the framework Agreement is for

10 years ending on 31st December 2016.

CX is a substantial shareholder and therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The transactions under the Framework Agreement are continuing connected
transactions in respect of which an announcement dated 21st May 2007 was published and a

circular dated 5th June 2007 was sent to shareholders.

For the year ended 3 1st December 2009, the fees payable by CX Group to HAECO Group under

the Framework Agreement totalled HK$ 1,891 million.

(b) John Swire & Sons (H.K.) Limited (“JSSHK ")

Pursuant to an agreement dated 1st December 2004, as amended and restated on 18th
September 2008, (“JSSHK Services Agreement”) with JSSHK, JSSHK provides services to the
Company and its subsidiaries. The services comprise full or part time services of members of
the staff of the John Swire & Sons Limited (“Swire”) group other administrative and similar
services and such other services as may be agreed from time to time. They also include advice
and expertise of the directors and senior officers of the Swire group including (but not limited
to) assistance in negotiating with requlatory and other governmental or official bodles, and in
procuring for the Company and its subsidiary, jointly controlled and associated companies the use
of relevant trademarks owned by Swire. No fee is payable in consideration of such procuration

obligation or such use.

In return for these services, JSSHK receives annual service fees calculated as 2.5% of the
Company's consolidated profit before taxation and minority interests after certain adjustments.
The fees for each year are payable in cash in arrears in two instalments, an interim payment by
the end of October and a final payment by the end of April of the following year, adjusted to take
account of the interim payment. The Company also reimburses the Swire group at cost for all the

expenses incurred in the provision of the services.

The current term of the JSSHK Services Agreement is from 1st January 2008 to 31st December
2010 and is renewable for successive periods of three years thereafter unless either party to
it gives to the other notice of termination of not less than three months expiring on any 31st

December:

Swire is the ultimate holding company of Swire Pacific Limited which owns approximately
45.96% (2008: 33.52%) of the issued capital of the Company and JSSHK, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Swire, is therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
The transactions under the JSSHK Services Agreement are continuing connected transactions in
respect of which announcements dated 1st December 2004, 7th March 2006 and 1st October

2007 were published.

for the year ended 31st December 2009, the fees payable by the Company to JSSHK under
the JSSHK Services Agreement totalled HK$20 million and expenses of HK$36 million were

reimbursed at cost.
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34. Principal subsidiary and jointly controlled companies 3. _BZAET-RA=+—HRED

at 31st December 2009 FTERBELATIRERLAT
Owned by
Place of subsidiary and
incorporation jointly controlled Attributable
and operation Owned companies to the
TEM AR B Principal activities Issued share capital directly MR St Group
Fedsich s FTEEY BEEBTRA HERR DEEE £BEE
Subsidiary companies:
MEAR
HAECO ATE Component Service Limited Hong Kong Aircraft component repair Share capital of HK$2,000,000 100% - 100%
BB services 78#2 000,0007T AR A
TR ERAHEIZRTS
Singapore HAECO Pte. Limited Singapore Line maintenance Share capital of SGD1 100% - 100%
ESIpiId ShENHERE WA TR
Taikoo (Xiamen) Aircraft Engineering Company ~ Xiamen Aircraft overhaul and Registered capital of 56.55% — 56.55%
Limited * =15 maintenance US$41,500,000
EFAGRETIEBRAR * TR NS RIS IRTS 41,500,000% T REZ
Taikoo Engine Services (Xiamen) Company Xiamen Commercial aero engine overhaul  Registered capital of 75.01% 10% 80.67%
Limited * EF9 services US$63,000,000
EFALEBRREERAR ¥ RAMmZES|EAE 63,000,0005% TLFEME A
Taikoo (Xiamen) Landing Gear Services Xiamen Landing gear repair and overhaul  Registered capital of 50% 10% 55.66%
Company Limited * =P FEE LB T KIS US$13,890,000
EM AR EEREERBERAR - 13,890,000 L&A
Jointly controlled companies:
HEAF
Dunlop Taikoo (Jinjiang) Aircraft Tyres Company  Jinjiang Tyre services for commercial Registered capital of 28% 9% 33.09%
Limited * =pii aircraft US$5,000,000
BIBE R REHmIBRERAR * 72 PR AR R PR AR 7S 5,000,000 jTaE R E A
Goodrich Asia-Pacific Limited Hong Kong Carbon brake machining and Share capital of HK$9,200,000 49% - 49%
Bis wheel hub overhaul 759,200,000 IR AR
IREEE AT RERAE
Goodrich TAECO Aeronautical Systems Xiamen Aircraft fuel control, flight control ~ Registered capital of - 35% 19.79%
(Xiamen) Company Limited *# =P and electrical component repairs US$5,000,000
EBMRERLFHRERAR FREHORZSE - MZEEEIE  5,000,000F TEMER
BERERE
Honeywell TAECO Aerospace (Xiamen) Xiamen Aircraft hydraulic, pneumatic, Registered capital of 25% 10% 30.66%
Company Limited * =P avionic component and other US$5,000,000
ERERERALEMERAR * aviation equipment repairs 5,000,000 TEEMEAR
RIERE - RE - MBI R
Hit Mz R G 1EE R
Hong Kong Aero Engine Services Limited # Hong Kong Commercial aero engine overhaul  Share capital of HK$200 45% - 45%
ERMERBRECREERAR Y BB services FBHE200 T AR A
B R S| ERE R
Singapore Aero Engine Services Pte. Limited #  Singapore Commercial aero engine overhaul  Share capital of US$54,000,000 - 20% 9%
FIEMZE R ERAEEIREERAR *  3IE services 54,000,0003 FT AR A
P A S| KB RS
Taikoo (Shandong) Aircraft Engineering Jinan Heavy maintenance services for Registered capital of 30% 10% 35.66%
Company Limited *# pidea] narrow-body aircraft RMB200,000,000
WRAGRETEBRAF * TR AR B IRES AER#200,000,0007T3E M & 2
Taikoo Sichuan Aircraft Engineering Services Chengdu Line maintenance and aircraft Registered capital of 40% 9% 45.09%
Company Limited *# AR maintenance RMB60,000,000
MRS R TEREARAR INEVEE R RS AE#60,000,0007TE A E AR
Taikoo Spirit AeroSystems (Jinjiang) Composite  linjiang Composite material aeronautic Registered capital of 41.8% 10.76% 47.88%
Company Limited * 1 parts/systems repair, US$11,663,163
BIIARBUREAHEERAR manufacturing and sales 11,663,163E LM E A
BEMBMESHRSEE
Principal subsidiary and jointly controlled companies are those which, in the ITEMBARRAZEAREESRRAANEELEREE
opinion of the Directors, materially affect the results or assets of the Group. BEEEYEMNDAF -
* Equity joint venture incorporated in Mainland China. * R EIR# RL E R & B F
# Companies not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. # B K EE TR EB T IEER A A
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FTEERHER

1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") and under the historical
cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements.

In 2009, the Group adopted the following new or revised standards and
interpretations of HKFRS below, which are relevant to its operations. Where
applicable, the 2008 comparatives have been amended as required.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

Amendments to HKFRS
1 and HKAS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements —
Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

1.HBBERA
BHBRDEREBU B RS LN RMEBELHA
BRERR  URAVEIABZRNABEE (B
BOTETR) NEMBELHET

BREBUBRELARRYBHRE  FEFELS
TEENEHG  FTREEEEERARENS
ATRRBRPTEAL - FREBRABE R E
 BIERRR AT HUBREFEAZENEG
» REI R R MBI o

T

EZZZNF  KRERAUTHIREETNES
MBHRELARRE  ZEFEARBBEAERE
EEEH - WER —EENFNLBRBBCREE
FUBR ©

BBEERE (EA]) PHBRN 2K

BBEERIZE235 (B7]) fEREA

BEAUBREEUSIRRERE | FARBUNKERE -
ERIE275R LT RENMBAR - LEERS

Annual improvements to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in October 2008

BENRHRA
HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments — BB EERSTH (52 RELWTENHE —
Fair Value Measurements and Liquidity Risk of Financial SRIANATENERES
Instruments ELER
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments E T e &EHE

The adoption of such standards or interpretations does not result in
substantial changes to the Group's accounting policies and has no significant
effect on the results. However, as a result of the adoption of HKAS 1
(revised) “Presentation of Financial Statements”, changes in equity arising
from transactions with shareholders in their capacity as shareholders are
presented separately from all other income and expenses in a revised
statement of changes in equity. All such items of income and expenses as
a result of non-owner changes in equity are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income.

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” replaces HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”. It
requires a “management approach” under which information is presented on
the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This has resulted
in an increase in the number of reportable segments presented.
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1. Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the following new standards or
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. The adoption
of such standards or interpretations would not result in substantial changes

1.BERA (&

)

SR AR AT S B ERERHH TR

2B RARE EAFRBFEHEENS KR

] . . RIEREARE o
to the Group's accounting policies.
. . HE AR 2 HBEN
Effective for accounting Peesny
eriods beginning on or after
periods beginning Bt (EEMBEE | BEEARERLHE | “2RAELA-A
REZEE) 2
HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 | Distribution of Non-cash Assets to 1st July 2009 %ﬁg? ) e
Owner
EHEEREUE | ERAKE —Z2--%-8—-H
HKAS 24 (Revised) | Related Party Disclosures 1st January 2011 (E3T)
HKAS 27 (Revised) | Consolidated and Separate Financial | 1st July 2009 BREREARY | GRERBUMEHREK | —FEAFLA-A
Statements (EHT)
SBEIPEREI0Y | SMIE  BARME | 2T -
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 1st July 2009 §,§E#+,\\Jx39sﬁ S bR S A el
(1&5T)
(Amendment) and Measurement
EBUBREENSES | LEEH “ZZhELA—H
HKFRS 3 (Revised) | Business Combinations 1st July 2009 CAE))
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1st January 2013 EEMEREENSE | EMIA —2-=f-A-H
i

Second Improvements to HKFRSs — Amendments to:

ERBREERNERUE — HUTEBNEIET -

HKAS 7 Cash Flow Statement 1st January 2010 .
ERETENETR | AERER —Z2-Zf-f-H
HKAS 17 Leases 1st January 2010 Esetenzrg | A8 —z_szr_pg-p
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets 1st January 2010 EAGTOEREIE | SERE —E-TF5-F-A
HKAS 38 Intangible Assets 1st January 2010 ERETENERS | BHEE —E-ZF—H-H
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition | 1st July 2009 BASTHEAE0Y, | 2MIA : BARE | —ZTAFLA-A
and Measurement -
ERUKHERRE | #EHE —Z-Zf-f-H
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments 1st January 2010 &
o o . VS
2. Basis of consolidation 2. RaRA

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiary companies made up to 31st December.

Subsidiary companies are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of
subsidiary companies by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interests. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary company acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

BENEBRREELARANBLAISAEET A
=+ - AREBRE -

WEABEREEHEBZEE AL  HREC
EEAHREBRA - WRBREZHR L2 BER
KERTABREH

KENBESHEAKEBANMBLARIR B
BERADERZEARMEEENDFE - FRTH
BEMETE  URAELESARNERE MELE
BRBEXZMoIENRATE - EHEAHBRE
FEENTHIAMBEE  BERIBERE X HR
BEERZREATEEHASHE  MAZEEM
RENVERRER - KBERANREBEEGA
BRMBEEFERNGE  UBBIR  WBE
RABRFBAMBRRAEEFENAFE HE
BRERERERTERD -
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FTEFHHER

2. Basis of consolidation (continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between Group companies are eliminated upon consolidation. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiary and
jointly controlled companies have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Minority interests in the statement of financial position, comprise the
proportion of the net assets of subsidiary companies attributable to
shareholders external to the Group. The Group applies a policy of treating
transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external to
the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the
Group that are recorded in the income statement. Purchases from minority
interests result in goodwill, being the difference between any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of
the subsidiary company.

3. Subsidiary companies

Subsidiary companies are those companies in which the Group, directly or
indirectly, has an interest of more than half the voting powers or otherwise
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiary
companies are stated at cost less provision for any impairment losses. The
results of subsidiary companies are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

4. Jointly controlled companies

A joint control represents contractual arrangement whereby the Group and
other parties undertake an economic activity which is subject to shared
control and none of the participating parties has unilateral control over the
economic activity of the entity.

Investments in jointly controlled companies are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The excess
of the cost of investment in jointly controlled companies over the fair value
of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired represents
goodwill. The Group's investments in jointly controlled companies include
goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment losses) arising on acquisitions.

The consolidated income statement includes the Group's share of results
of jointly controlled companies. In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the investment in jointly controlled companies represents the
Group's share of net assets. When the Group’s share of losses in a jointly
controlled company equals or exceeds its interest in the jointly controlled
company, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the jointly controlled company. Results reported by jointly
controlled companies are changed where necessary to ensure no material
inconsistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in jointly
controlled companies are stated at cost less provision for any impairment
losses. The results of jointly controlled companies are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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5. Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors.

6. Foreign currency translation

Items included in financial statements of each of the Group's entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities and the
statements of financial position are translated into Hong Kong dollars,
the Group's presentation currency, at the rates of exchange ruling at the
statement of financial position date. Foreign currency transactions during the
year are translated at the market exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Exchange differences are reflected in the income statement except for
unrealised differences on net investments in foreign subsidiary and jointly
controlled companies which are taken directly to reserves.

The statements of financial position of foreign subsidiary and jointly
controlled companies denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date whilst
the income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange
rates during the year. When foreign subsidiary or jointly controlled companies
are sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.

7. Assets under operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets
remain with the leasing company are accounted for as operating leases.

Payments made and due under operating lease agreements are aggregated
and charged to operating profit evenly over the periods of the respective
leases.

8. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are expensed in the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FTEEHHER

8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Rates of depreciation are calculated using the straight line method to
allocate the cost of property, plant and equipment to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation rates in use for property, plant
and equipment are as follows:
Buildings and building facilities 2.5% to 10%
Equipment, plant, machinery and tools 7.3% to 33%
Motor vehicles 18% to 20%
Rotable spares 1%
Assets under construction Nil

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset to
its recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment represents the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

9. Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of cost of
acquisition of subsidiary and jointly controlled companies over the
Group's share of the fair value ascribed to the separable net assets at
the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiary companies
is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of jointly
controlled companies is included in investments in jointly controlled
companies. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Any impairment arising on
goodwill is recognised in the income statement immediately. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to a cash generating unit for the purpose of
impairment testing.

(i) Computer software
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that
are directly associated with the acquisition of identifiable and unique
software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably
generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are
recognised as intangible assets.

Computer software costs are amortised over their estimated useful life
of five years.

HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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9. Intangible assets (continued)

i) Technical licences
Separately acquired technical licences are shown at historical cost.
Technical licences acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Technical licences have a finite useful
life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
technical licences over their estimated useful life of twenty two years.

10. Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, but
are tested at least annually for impairment and are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows.

11. Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets
held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the statement of financial position date. These are classified as
non-current assets. The Group's loans and receivables comprise “trade
and other receivables” and cash and cash equivalents in the statement
of financial position.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the statement
of financial position date.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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11. Financial assets (continued)

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-
date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-
sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss” category are presented in the income
statement within “other net gains” in the period in which they arise.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using
forward exchange market rates at the statement of financial position date.

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in
principal accounting policy 15.

12. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date to the derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature
of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as
either: (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a
firm commitment (fair value hedge); (2) hedges of highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedge); or (3) hedges of net investments in foreign
operations.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used
in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items.

(i) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify
as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are
attributable to the hedged risk.

HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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12. Derivative financial instruments and hedging
activities (continued)

(ii) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement
in the periods when the hedged item will affect the surplus/deficit
(for instance when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or property,
plant and equipment) or a liability, the gains and losses previously
deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income
statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately
transferred to income statement.

(iii) Net investment hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted
for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in
other comprehensive income; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income
statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.

(iv) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

13. Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks,
financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of subsidiary or jointly
controlled companies to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.
Financial guarantees are recorded in the financial statements at fair value.

14. Stocks and work in progress

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost, calculated on a weighted average
basis, and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined on the
basis of anticipated sales proceeds less estimated selling expenses. Work in
progress represents the gross amount due from customers for all contract
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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14. Stocks and work in progress (continued)

work in progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits (less
recognised losses) exceeds progress billings. Progress billings not yet paid by
customers are included within “trade receivables”.

15. Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtors, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in
payments (more than 3 months overdue) are considered indicators that the
trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited in the income statement.

16. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, amounts repayable
on demand from banks and financial institutions and short-term liquid
investments which were within three months of maturity when acquired, less
bank overdrafts.

17. Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share capital,
the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s
equity holders until the shares are cancelled.

18. Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

19. Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable
to the financial liability, including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised costs; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the statement of financial position date.

HONG KONG AIRCRAFT ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED
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20. Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if the deferred income
tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Taxation
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled are used to determine
deferred taxation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiary and jointly controlled companies, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

21. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

22. Turnover and revenue recognition

Turnover represents the aggregated amounts invoiced to customers and
changes in work in progress. Invoices are raised either on completion or on
stage completion depending on the terms of individual contracts. Incomplete
contract work is recognised based on a “percentage of completion method”
to determine the appropriate amount. The stage of completion is measured
by reference to the costs incurred up to the end of the reporting period
as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract. Total revenue
recognised for the completed contracts is equal to the aggregated amounts
invoiced for the contract.

Finance income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.

23. Staff benefits

(i) Retirement benefits
The Company offers either Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") or one of
two defined benefit retirement schemes to staff. The latter schemes are
held under trust arrangements and actuarially valued as required on a
regular basis using a prospective actuarial valuation method. They are
funded in accordance with the actuarial recommendation.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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23. Staff benefits (continued)

(i) Retirement benefits (continued)
The Company's contributions to the MPF are charged to the income
statement as incurred. For the two defined benefit schemes, retirement
benefit costs, which are assessed using the projected unit credit method,
are charged to the income statement. Under this method, plan assets are
measured at fair value; retirement benefit obligations are measured as
the present value of the estimated future cash flows. Actuarial gains and
losses to the extent of the amount in excess of 10% of the greater of the
present value of the plan obligations and the fair value of plan assets
are recognised in the consolidated income statement over the expected
average remaining service lives of the participating employees.

The above calculations are performed annually by an actuary or the
administration manager of the schemes.

TAECO, TALSCO and TEXL pay contributions to the required statutory
retirement scheme for their local employees. The scheme is operated by
the Mainland China government. In addition, TAECO also operates a
defined contribution scheme for employees who have worked for more
than five years. Both the employers and the employees are required to
contribute to the scheme. Contributions to the schemes are charged to
the income statement in the period to which the contributions relate.

Singapore HAECO Pte. Limited pays contributions to the required statutory
retirement scheme, Central Provident Fund, for its local employees. The
scheme is operated by the Singapore government and contributions to the
scheme are charged to the income statement in the period to which the
contributions relate.

HAECO Bahrain Aircraft Services Company Limited pays contributions
to the required statutory retirement scheme for its local employees. The
scheme is operated by the General Organization for Social Insurance
in Bahrain and contributions to the scheme are charged to the income
statement in the period to which the contributions relate.

(ii) Staff leave entitlements
Costs related to staff annual leave are recognised as the leave accrues to
staff.

24. Dividend distribution

Final dividends are recognised as a liability on approval by the Company’s
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised as a liability on approval by
the Company's Board.

25. Related parties

Related parties are individuals and companies, including subsidiary and
jointly controlled companies, where the individual, company or group has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions.
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P.0. Box 358516

Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8516

USA

Tel: 1-888-BNY-ADRS (Calls within USA — toll free)
1-201-680-6825 (International callers)

E-mail:  shrrelations@bnymellon.com

Website: www.bnymellon.com\shareowner

Principal Banker
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registrars

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

Website: www.computershare.com

Website
www.haeco.com

For further information about Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company

Limited, please contact:

General Manager

Group Public Affairs

Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Limited
35th Floor, Two Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2840-8098

Fax: (852) 2526-9365
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